
1 The Hyde Amendment, which is widely published as a “legislative note” attached to 18 U.S.C.
§ 3006A (popularly entitled “The Criminal Justice Act”), states:

During fiscal year 1998 and in any fiscal year thereafter, the court, in any criminal case
(other than a case in which the defendant is represented by assigned counsel paid for by
the public) pending on or after the date of the enactment of this Act [Nov. 26, 1997], may
award to a prevailing party, other than the United States, a reasonable attorney’s fee and
other litigation expenses, where the court finds that the position of the United States was
vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith, unless the court finds that special circumstances
make such an award unjust.  Such awards shall be granted pursuant to the procedures
and limitations (but not the burden of proof) provided for an award under section 2412 of
title 28, United States Code.  To determine whether or not to award fees and costs under
this section, the court, for good cause shown, may receive evidence ex parte and in
camera (which shall include the submission of classified evidence or evidence that
reveals or might reveal the identity of an informant or undercover agent or matters
occurring before a grand jury) and evidence or testimony so received shall be kept under
seal.  Fees and other expenses awarded under this provision to a party shall be paid by
the agency over which the party prevails from any funds made available to the agency by
appropriation.  No new appropriations shall be made as a result of this provision.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

TAMPA DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v. CASE NO. 8:99-cr-324-T-23MAP

STEVEN B. AISENBERG and
MARLENE J. AISENBERG
_________________________________/

ORDER 

Steven and Marlene Aisenberg (the Aisenbergs) seek recovery of “a reasonable

attorney’s fee and other litigation expenses” pursuant to Section 617 of Public Law

Number 105-119, 111 Stat. 2440, 2519 (1997) (the Hyde Amendment).1  For reasons

conspicuous in the record of this extraordinary case, the United States of America

concedes liability--apparently the only such concession by the Department of Justice

since enactment of the Hyde Amendment--for a prosecution that was either “vexatious,

frivolous, or in bad faith” within the meaning of the Hyde Amendment.  The United



2 The United States conceded the application of the Hyde Amendment to the Aisenberg
prosecution in the initial response (Doc. 378) to the Aisenbergs’ application.  (Doc. 367)  The United
States’ concession states:

While rejecting the general tenor and specific characterizations of Defendants’
application, the Government has concluded, after thorough review and consultation within
the United States Attorney’s Office for the Middle District of Florida, and the Department
of Justice, Washington, D.C., that the best interests of justice are served by not contesting
the application of the Hyde Amendment in this case.

On February 14, 2001, the Magistrate Judge issued a comprehensive, meticulous, and
thoroughly researched Report and Recommendation to the Court in which he determined
that important affidavits of Hillsborough County Sheriff’s Office detectives were, among
other things, the product of reckless disregard for the accuracy of critical information.  He
thereafter recommended that this Court suppress evidence which was critical to the
successful prosecution of the indictment handed up against the Defendants.  The
Government closely reviewed and carefully considered the Magistrate Judge’s Report and
Recommendation.  While not fully agreeing with the Magistrate Judge, the Government
concluded that objections to the Report and Recommendation would be unsuccessful. 
Accordingly, the Government requested leave of the District Court to file a dismissal of the
indictment against Defendants.  That request was granted on February 22, 2001.

Therefore, based upon the specific findings in the Magistrate Judge’s Report and
Recommendation, and for the purpose and in the context of this case only, the
Government does not contest the application of the Hyde Amendment for a determination
of Defendants’ reimbursable attorneys’ fees and costs.
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States’ unprecedented concession leaves for determination only the correct statutory

measure of the “reasonable attorney’s fee and other litigation expenses” available under

the Hyde Amendment.2  

THE AISENBERG PROSECUTION

By a telephone call to the “911" emergency service, Marlene Aisenberg reported

the disappearance of her daughter Sabrina in the early morning on November 24, 1997. 

Law enforcement responded promptly and in the next days an intense and thorough

“manhunt” occurred but failed to recover Sabrina.  (The Aisenbergs insist with distinctive

force that this search was mainly a search for Sabrina’s dead body, rather than a search
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for a living child.  The United States contests this interpretation.  In either event, an

enormous effort occurred.)  Sabrina remains missing.

On December 12, 1997, eighteen days after Sabrina’s disappearance and after

developing suspicions directed at the Aisenbergs, the Hillsborough County Sheriff’s

Office applied successfully to the circuit court in Hillsborough County, Florida, for

authorization to intercept oral communication, including telephonic communication, in

the Aisenbergs’ home.  Authorities furtively placed electronic interception devices

throughout the Aisenbergs’ home the next day, December 13, 1997.  Owing to

extensions of the interception authority, for which law enforcement applied on January 9

and again on February 6, 1998, the surveillance remained active until March 2, 1998,

yielding seventy-nine days of surveillance, including approximately 2,600 conversations

recorded on fifty-five audio recordings (the interception protocol included minimization at

two minutes and cessation of the bedroom interception between midnight and

7:00 a.m.).  

On September 9, 1999, about twenty-one months after Sabrina’s disappearance

and about eighteen months after discontinuation of the state-authorized interception in

the Aisenbergs’ home, a federal grand jury returned a twenty-seven page, six-count

indictment alleging (1) that both in the Aisenbergs’ initial report and during the

consequent investigation the Aisenbergs violated 18 U.S.C. §§ 1001 and 1002 by,

among other things, uttering “false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements” to law



3 Between Sabrina’s disappearance and the indictment, the United States issued
subpoenas requiring Steven and Marlene Aisenberg to appear before the grand jury.  The United
States effected service of the subpoenas on the Aisenbergs in a provocative manner (i.e., personal
service at the Aisenbergs’ home rather than service through the Aisenbergs’ attorney) and at an
unusual time (i.e., Friday evening, January 30, 1998, just four days before February 4, 1998, return
date).  Both in correspondence and in a hearing before United States District Judge Henry Adams, the
Aisenbergs communicated to the United States an unequivocal intent to invoke the Fifth Amendment in
any appearance before the grand jury.  Although the Aisenbergs obtained a brief postponement of their
grand jury appearance, the United States persisted.  Accordingly, the Aisenbergs appeared before the
grand jury (at a time inexplicably known by all members of the interested press) and, as promised, refused
to testify.  In other words, the United States insisted upon placing before the grand jury witnesses
(characterized dubiously by the United States as mere “subjects” of the grand jury investigation) whom the
United States knew would not testify after asserting their Fifth Amendment rights.  See United States
Department of Justice, United States Attorneys’ Manual § 9-11.154 (Aug. 2002), available at
http://www.usdoj.gov/usao/eousa/foia_reading_room/usam/; 1 Sara Sun Beale et al., Grand Jury Law and
Practice §§ 6:10, 6:23 (2d ed. 2002).  A review of the transcript of the Aisenbergs’ appearance before the
grand jury reveals that they were asked approximately one hundred futile but undoubtedly embarrassing
questions (each of which the Aisenbergs lawfully declined to answer).  The transcript provides a graphic
and disquieting example of the sort of mischief by the United States that commends the arguments
against permitting a grand jury summons under circumstances similar to those involving the Aisenbergs
(i.e., after a formal notice by counsel for grand jury “targets” of an assertion of the right against self-
incrimination).  The grand jury is a forum for the pursuit of solemn investigation and not a theater for the
presentation of a spectacle.  See United States Attorneys’ Manual § 9-11.010, (“In dealing with the grand
jury, the prosecutor must always conduct himself or herself as an officer of the court whose function is to
ensure that justice is done and that guilt shall not escape nor innocence suffer. . . . In discharging these
responsibilities, the prosecutor must be scrupulously fair to all witnesses and must do nothing to inflame or
otherwise improperly influence the grand jurors.”)   
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enforcement respecting Sabrina’s disappearance and (2) that the Aisenbergs conspired

to effect the deceptions that violated Sections 1001 and 1002.3 

The indictment begins in part A, paragraphs one through eight, by alleging some

unusual details, including the Aisenbergs’ exact street address, the name of the

Aisenbergs’ pet dog (“Brownie”), the number of bedrooms and bathrooms in the house,

the existence of certain physical features at and near the Aisenbergs’ home (a cul-de-

sac, a wooden fence, a concrete wall, a nearby road, street lights), and the presence of

both the Aisenbergs’ alarm system and an accompanying exterior sign, which warns

prospective intruders and other passersby about the alarm system.  In paragraph two

the indictment refers for the first time to Sabrina Aisenberg, and the indictment’s author
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elects to designate Sabrina as “Baby Sabrina” (presumably to capture whatever

sensational and evocative value attaches to an alleged crime against an innocent

infant).  Paragraph nine of the indictment alleges that:

In November 1997, Baby Sabrina suffered from ear infections and
perforated ear drums, requiring medical treatment.  STEVEN B.
AISENBERG and MARLENE J. AISENBERG missed two follow-up medical
appointments for Baby Sabrina on November 10, 1997 and November 17,
1997.

(The obvious thrust of paragraph nine, which eventually proves wholly unjustified and

misleading because Sabrina saw the pediatrician during her siblings’ appointments and

the Aisenbergs canceled Sabrina’s separate appointments, is to project to the reader an

image of parental disregard and disinterest in Sabrina’s medical welfare, presumably

only days before her disappearance.) 

In part B the indictment succinctly charges a conspiracy between the Aisenbergs

to violate Section 1001 and continues into part C, which alleges in twelve paragraphs

the “manner and means” by which the Aisenbergs implemented the alleged conspiracy,

including falsely reporting both the kidnapping and the “circumstances of the

disappearance,” failing to comply with law enforcement’s requests for certain

cooperation, providing false and misleading information to law enforcement, agreeing

between themselves not to “tell anyone the truth concerning the disappearance of Baby

Sabrina,” and diverting toward their “personal expenses” the money received from

others to assist in the search for Sabrina.  (This latter accusation presumably evidences

the Aisenbergs’ supposed moral laxity rather than an identified federal crime.)



4 Presumably the reader of the indictment is invited to recall (with dark suspicion) the exploits of
Sherlock Holmes.  As they searched for the cherished racehorse “Silver Blaze,” Holmes and Dr. Watson
encountered one Colonel Ross, with whom they conversed concerning the horse’s unaccountable
disappearance:

“Is there any point to which you [, Mr. Holmes,] would wish to draw my attention?” [, Ross
asked.]  

“To the curious incident of the dog in the night-time.”

“The dog did nothing in the night-time.”

“That was the curious incident,” remarked Sherlock Holmes.

Of course, Holmes later explains himself to Dr. Watson:

“. . .  I had grasped the significance of the silence of the dog, for one true inference
invariably suggests others.  The Simpson incident had shown me that a dog was kept in
the stables, and yet, though someone had been in and had fetched out a horse, he had
not barked enough to arouse the two lads in the loft.  Obviously the midnight visitor was
someone whom the dog knew well. “

2 Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, THE ANNOTATED SHERLOCK HOLMES, “Silver Blaze” (William S. Baring-Gould ed.,
Clarkson N. Potter, Inc., 2d ed. 1977) (1892).  The infallibility of Sherlock Holmes’ miraculous powers of
observation and deduction is, it is well to remember, merely delicious fiction. 
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In part D the indictment specifies fifty-nine “overt acts” (counting one per

paragraph) allegedly undertaken by the Aisenbergs in furtherance of their conspiracy to

deceive law enforcement.  The “overt acts” begin with an allegedly false report to police

about the time of Sabrina’s disappearance and with the allegedly conflicting reports

concerning the details.  The “overt acts” section of the indictment contains much that

has caused controversy and rancor throughout this case.  Some of the allegations seem

trivial; for example, Brownie’s alleged and suspicious failure to bark on the night of

Sabrina’s disappearance.4  Some of the allegations seem almost gratuitous; for

example, the repeated (and undoubtedly embarrassing) reference to Marlene

Aisenberg’s involuntary urination when she found Sabrina missing.  Some of the

allegations seem redundant or, at least, unnecessarily elongated; for example, the
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detailed account of the Aisenbergs’ alleged lethargy and disinterest in law

enforcement’s investigation.  In sum, the indictment of the Aisenbergs is unaccountably

lengthy and replete with matters that are (at best) mere surplusage and unnecessary to

the essential purpose of an indictment, which is to provide a “plain, concise, and definite

written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged,” as prescribed

by Rule 7(c)(1), Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.  This purpose is properly

accomplished by an orderly and businesslike account of “only those facts and elements

of the alleged offense necessary to sufficiently inform the accused of the charge and to

safeguard the accused from double jeopardy.”  United States v. Gold, 743 F.2d 800,

812 (11th Cir. 1984).  An indictment is an instrument designed to fairly notify a

defendant of the essential facts comprising an offense against a specified law.  An

indictment is not an opportunity for the United States to marshal all available details of

the inculpatory evidence, to advance arguments (especially tendentious or highly

provocative arguments) and promote inferences in support of conviction, or to

unnecessarily defame, embarrass, or--more to the particular point of the Hyde

Amendment--gratuitously vex the defendant.  

Admittedly, no distinct boundary exists distinguishing a merely lengthy or a

“speaking” indictment from an indictment purposefully swollen with unduly suggestive

detail.  The prosecutor enjoys some latitude and, of course, an indictment is nether

likely to nor intended to flatter a defendant.  However, a fair reading of the Aisenberg

indictment (independent of any consideration of the events that follow the indictment,

which events adulterate one’s view dramatically) leaves the disinterested observer with
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reinforced skepticism about the intention of the indictment’s author.  This troubling

suspicion is compounded and further reinforced by a series of allegations of dubious

relevance, detached context, or questionable veracity, for example, that Marlene

Aisenberg “feigned a catatonic state in front of law enforcement agents,” that the

Aisenbergs “failed to provide the requested lists for law enforcement,” that “Marlene J.

Aisenberg . . . denied that there was a bald spot on Baby Sabrina’s head . . . ,” that the

Aisenbergs “retreated into their bedroom in the Aisenberg residence and turned the

stereo on loudly . . . ,” that Steven Aisenberg told his wife “what happens in this house

stays in this house . . . ,” that Marlene Aisenberg told her husband that “she doesn’t like

lying to her father concerning the disappearance of Baby Sabrina . . . ,” that, as alleged

in paragraph thirty-one of the indictment (in its entirety):

On or about December 23, 1997, at approximately 10:00 a.m., STEVEN B.
AISENBERG and MARLENE J. AISENBERG conducted a press
conference at the office of the attorney, read from a prepared statement,
and refused to answer any questions posed by the media.

. . . or that, as alleged in paragraph forty-one of the indictment (also, in its entirety):

On or about January 12, 1998, STEVEN B. AISENBERG rehearsed and
taped a statement that he planned to give and later gave to a Tampa radio
station, WFLA 970.

(This latter allegation is based upon an obvious misinterpretation of a recorded

telephone conversation between Steven Aisenberg and a member of the defense

team.)  

A more precise account or characterization of the indictment’s degree of prolixity

is unnecessary because a different aspect of the indictment presents problems that

supersede the troubling matters already reviewed in this order.  Several paragraphs of
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the indictment purport to quote incriminating statements attributed to the Aisenbergs. 

Among those paragraphs, each paragraph of which is a separate “overt act,” are

paragraphs thirty-two and thirty-three:

On or about December 23, 1997, at approximately 7:20 p.m., MARLENE J.
AISENBERG and STEVEN B. AISENBERG discussed the death of Baby
Sabrina and possible stories that they could tell the police about how they
came up with the kidnapping story.  MARLENE J. AISENBERG then told
STEVEN B. AISENBERG, “The baby’s dead and buried!  It was found dead
because you did it!  The baby’s dead no matter what you say -- you just did
it!”

On or about December 23, 1997, at approximately 7:20 p.m., STEVEN B.
AISENBERG replied, “Honey, there was nothing I could do about it.  We
need to discuss the way that we can beat the charge.  I would never break
from the family pact and our story even if the police were to hold me down. 
We will do what we have to do.”

. . . paragraphs thirty-six and thirty-seven:

On or about December 24, 1997, at approximately 11:20 p.m., STEVEN B.
AISENBERG and MARLENE J. AISENBERG discussed the possibility of
neighbors being witnesses against STEVEN B. AISENBERG.  STEVEN B.
AISENBERG told MARLENE J. AISENBERG, “They can’t hang me, the
other four neighbors.  They can’t hang me unless you attack me before the
evidence.”

On or about December 24, 1997, at approximately 11:20 p.m.,
MARLENE J. AISENBERG stated, “Oh, Steve!  I tried to save her, she died
and ah we can’t confuse them, but we’ll try it Hon, you know.” 
MARLENE J. AISENBERG further stated, “I don’t think I have to wait for
Joe Sarge to take me to jail . . . .”  STEVEN B. AISENBERG replied, “None
of us expects that, I don’t expect that to happen . . . .”  Then STEVEN B.
AISENBERG and MARLENE J. AISENBERG discussed their “time-line
goof up.”

. . . paragraphs forty-seven and forty-eight:

On or about January 21, 1998, at approximately 9:00 p.m., STEVEN B.
AISENBERG told MARLENE J. AISENBERG, “I wish I hadn’t harmed her.”
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On or about January 21, 1998, at approximately 9:00 p.m., MARLENE J.
AISENBERG told STEVEN B. AISENBERG, “I just can’t take the rap for
this.”

. . . and, finally, paragraphs fifty-three and fifty-four:

On or about February 10, 1998, MARLENE J. AISENBERG told
STEPHEN B. AISENBERG that she was concerned about what a friend of
hers would tell the federal grand jury concerning what MARLENE J.
AISENBERG had told her friend the morning Baby Sabrina was reported
missing.  Later, STEVEN B. AISENBERG told MARLENE J. AISENBERG,
“We’re in hot water thanks to you.”  MARLENE J. AISENBERG replied that
if the police indicated that the police know where Sabrina is, “I guess we’ll
just tell that, that they know Sabrina is out there in the water and they have
to stay looking for her . . . .”

On or about February 17, 1998, STEVEN B. AISENBERG and
MARLENE J. AISENBERG discussed the Baby Sabrina situation, and the
fact that “HRS” and the federal grand jury were still attempting to obtain
proof.  STEVEN B. AISENBERG told MARLENE J. AISENBERG, “They
don’t know the truth, right?”, to which MARLENE J. AISENBERG
responded, “Yeah.”  MARLENE J. AISENBERG further told STEVEN B.
AISENBERG, “So, so in a way, you know, that means nobody knows what
we did still.”  STEVEN B. AISENBERG replied, “Exactly.”

These paragraphs and others among the “overt acts” in the indictment, in

combination with the balance of the indictment, convey unmistakably and purposefully

to the reader the conclusion (1) that Steven Aisenberg is responsible for the death of

Sabrina by some mechanism and under circumstances known to the Aisenbergs and

(2) that Marlene Aisenberg is unwilling to share legal responsibility (“take the rap”) for

the acts of Steven Aisenberg, although she is willing to assist in shielding the facts from

discovery.  The indictment bears every indication that conveying these two messages

was the author’s manifest intent.

In addition to the return of an indictment against the Aisenbergs, September 9,

1999, featured another significant event in the Aisenbergs’ prosecution.  On that day,
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consequent upon the indictment in Florida, the Aisenbergs were arrested in Maryland,

Steven Aisenberg’s childhood home, to which the Aisenbergs moved after Sabrina’s

disappearance.  (The need to conserve money and the desire to avoid the harsh glare

of local publicity arising from Sabrina’s disappearance impelled the Aisenbergs’ return to

Steven Aisenberg’s parents’ home in Maryland.)  The Aisenbergs appeared that day

before United States Magistrate Judge Charles B. Day in Maryland.  Appearing in

Maryland and urging the magistrate judge to require the Aisenbergs to submit to

urinalysis and to require intervention by a “social services professional” to protect the

Aisenbergs’ other two children, an Assistant United States Attorney from the Middle

District of Florida, offered this representation in behalf of the United States:

The Government has in its possession a taped statement in which Steven
Aisenberg states, among other things, “I wish I hadn’t harmed her.  It was
the cocaine.”  The Government also has, Your Honor, other taped
statements of both Steven Aisenberg and Marlene Aisenberg that indicate,
based on the quality of their statements and their behavior, that -- you can
hear that they are drugged.

(The “taped statements” to which this Assistant United States Attorney alludes were not

played for the magistrate judge; they were only described.  In fact, as now is apparent,

no such “taped statements” exist.)  Notwithstanding the representations of the United

States, the Aisenbergs were released on bond.

Since the indictment, arrest, and arraignment, the Aisenbergs and the United

States have contested this matter with great energy and determination and,

consequently, at great length.  A detailed account of the proceedings (although quite

instructive) is beyond the scope of this order, which concerns a “reasonable attorney’s

fee and other litigation expenses” under the Hyde Amendment.  However, in summary,
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three issues dominated the litigation from the day of the indictment.  (1) The United

States sought to disqualify the Aisenbergs’ defense counsel and compel retention of

separate, independent counsel for each defendant.  (2) The Aisenbergs attacked the

audibility of the recordings that the United States intended to offer as evidence at trial

and attacked the validity of the transcripts that the United States prepared for

submission to the jury in tandem with the recordings.  (3) In an effort that proceeded

pari passu with the audibility issue, the Aisenbergs sought a hearing under Franks v.

Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), and attacked the state warrants--an initial warrant and

two extensions--authorizing the installation of listening devices and the interception of

oral communications in the Aisenbergs’ home.  By reference, the disqualification issue

and the Franks issue proceeded before United States Magistrate Judge Mark A. Pizzo;

the audibility issue proceeded before the district judge. 

I.

First, the United States sought to disqualify defense counsel by alleging that “joint

representation” creates an irresolvable conflict of interest that overrides the Aisenbergs’

right to counsel of their choice.  (Doc. 22)  The United States claimed that the

Aisenbergs possessed inconsistent defenses (for example, the United States suggests

in its motion to disqualify that “ . . . Marlene Aisenberg could attempt to explain [that]

some of her conduct, statements, or inaction charged in the indictment was the result of

the direction . . . of . . . Steven Aisenberg . . . ”) and were entitled to independent

opportunities to plea bargain.  The United States further suggested that defense

counsel “may become a witness at the trial“ because of his putative knowledge of
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events both occurring after the disappearance of Sabrina and constituting a violation of

Sections 1001 and 1002.  The United States characterized the prospect of defense

counsel’s testifying for the Aisenbergs as “very likely.”  The Aisenbergs responded

(Doc. 24) and the United States’ motion was denied after a finding of “good cause to

believe that no conflict of interest is likely to arise.”  

II.

Second, the Aisenbergs initiated an early effort to secure a prompt “audibility

hearing” with respect to any recordings intended for use in evidence at trial.  (Doc. 93) 

(The recordings intended for trial were fewer than all the recordings and fewer than

those involved in the Franks hearing).  The Aisenbergs’ initial motion concerning the

issue of audibility explained the Aisenbergs’ perceived need for an audibility hearing:

Several Overt Acts alleged in the indictment are based on conversations
intercepted pursuant to a state Order Authorizing the Interception of Oral
Communications, signed by Chief Judge Dennis Alvarez on December 12,
1997.  It may be assumed that the government will attempt to introduce
evidence of intercepted conversations alleged in the 24 Overt Acts by
playing tapes generated by the intercept.  The government has provided
the defense with cassette tape copies of tapes generated during the
intercept, digital copies of the conversations cited in the indictment, and,
within the past few days, original tapes generated by the intercept.  The
defense has spent over 350 hours reviewing portions of the tapes and
attempting to generate its own transcripts of the conversations.  This
process has included expert filtering of the tapes to remove background
noises, using high-tech sound equipment to slow down and speed up the
tape, and listening to specific words and phrases numerous times (over 30
per phrase or sentence).  Even with this process, the defense has been
unable to locate many conversations alleged by the government, and
where transcripts have been made, they are often completely different from
that alleged by the government.  In most instances, the tapes are so
inaudible that no complete and accurate transcript can be generated.
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The United States’ response in opposition (Doc. 138) submitted on April 17, 2000,

with respect to recordings in the possession of law enforcement since March, 1998,

states:

If at all, the Court should conduct an audibility hearing only for those tape
recordings that the United States will seek to introduce at trial and that the
defendants claim are so unintelligible as to render the recordings as a
whole untrustworthy.  If such an audibility hearing is conducted, the Court
should be able to conduct the hearing in a day’s time shortly before the
trial. 

. . . .

The defendants would have this Court believe that every one of the
intercepted conversations referenced in the indictment is so inaudible that it
should not be admitted into evidence. See Doc. 93 at 2-9.  They assert that
“no complete and accurate transcripts can be generated” and that “where
transcripts have been made, they are often completely different from that
alleged by the government.”  Id. at 2.

The transcripts of the intercepted conversations referenced in the
indictment and the applications for extension of the oral interception order,
which are filed in camera herewith, belie the defendants’ contention.  As
evidenced by such transcripts, the government has prepared complete
transcripts of the defendants’ intercepted conversations.  The transcripts
clearly show that the tapes are “not inadmissible per se” because there are
no “unintelligible portions [that] are so substantial as to render the
recording[s] as a whole untrustworthy.”  Avila, 443 F.2d at 795; see Pope,
132 F.3d at 688; Lively, 803 F.2d at 1129.

The government’s transcripts are also accurate.  To the extent that the
defendants assert that the government’s transcripts are not accurate, their
remedy is to prepare their own versions of the transcripts for consideration
by the jury at trial.  See Doc. Nos. 62 and 67.  It is the jury’s responsibility to
decide which version of the transcript, if any, is accurate.  See id.  

(footnote omitted).  

In other words, the United States (by then undoubtedly fully familiar with the

“contents” of the intercept recordings yet continuing to assert confidently both the
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audibility of the recordings and the accuracy of the transcripts) suggests either delaying

the audibility hearing until trial or, preferably, directly submitting both the recordings and

the United States’ and the Aisenbergs’ transcripts for consideration by the jury without

an audibility hearing and without respect to either the audibility of the recordings or the

accuracy of the transcripts.  Eventually, the United States submitted for review in

camera by the district court all the recordings intended for use at trial in the form of

thirty-two compact discs, accompanied by a purported transcript of the contents of each

disc.  Both the United States and the Aisenbergs proposed details respecting the

forthcoming determination of audibility. 

At a hearing on September 28, 2000, the parties again discussed the scheduled

audibility hearing.  The United States opposed the playing of the intercept recordings at

the audibility hearing to the extent that, as the United States stated, “[I]f the Court is

inclined to have a hearing and to play the tapes in open court . . . the case law that I

have looked at makes it clear that the media is not entitled to hear anything that is

deemed inadmissible . . . .”  (In other words, the United States suggested that a hearing

to determine audibility was a practical impossibility in the presence of the press because

only admissible evidence could be revealed at a pre-trial hearing.)  The Aisenbergs’

counsel, who by that moment had heard the intercept recordings, responded:

We [the defendants] have no problem with the public hearing everything on
those tapes.  And the public will finally get an opportunity to see what this
case is really about.  So the media, we welcome them.  We are not worried
about any prejudice.  And I can assure you that the prejudice that occurred
in this case has already occurred.
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(The history of the Aisenberg prosecution reveals many other moments, from early until

late, at which the United States wanted the intercept recordings to remain secret and

the defense demanded the broadcast of the recordings for the public to hear.)  Also at

the September 28, 2000, hearing, the Court confirmed that the Assistant United States

Attorneys had listened to the recordings in the same or comparable manner to that

offered to the Court.  As to the first prosecutor:

THE COURT: [H]ave you listened to what I listened to?

AUSA #1: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You have listened to the same discs?

AUSA #1: I have.

THE COURT: Have you listened to it on the same equipment?

AUSA #1: Yes, I have, Your Honor.  I have listened to at least
some of the CDs on the very same equipment, and I
believe all of them.  And I have also listened to them on
other equipment.

THE COURT: Does the United States have any need to or desire to
come to my office and listen to what I listened to on the
equipment and in the manner that I listened to it to
confirm the similarity--that’s not the right word--the
equality of the two?

AUSA #1: No, Your Honor.

Tr. of Hr’g, Sept. 28, 2000, (Doc. 247) at 9.  The results were consistent with the second

prosecutor:

THE COURT: Have you listened to these tapes . . . ?

AUSA #2: Yes, sir, I have.

THE COURT: In the manner that I listened to them?
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AUSA #2: Yes, sir.  Actually, Judge, not every one of them on the
compact disc, but on actual tape recordings themselves I
have, and a number of them on the compact discs.

Tr. of Hr’g, Sept. 28, 2000, (Doc. 247) at 18.  On October 6, 2000, the audibility hearing

was set for October 23, 2000.  (Doc. 249)  The United States moved successfully to

continue the audibility hearing on October 18, 2000.  (Docs. 261, 264)  Again on

November 1, 2000 (Doc. 276), the United States sought to continue the audibility

hearing but without success.  (Doc. 280)  

Before the September 28, 2000, hearing, I had thoroughly reviewed the thirty-two

compact discs intended for use by the United States as evidence against the

Aisenbergs at trial.  I had played each disc in sequence until completion.  As I reviewed

the recordings, I recalled that the United States had expressed repeatedly that the

recordings were the motive force and principal support for its case against the

Aisenbergs.  The lengthy indictment included strongly inculpatory quotations attributed

to the Aisenbergs, quotations avowedly derived from the thirty-two compact discs and

prominently featured by the United States at a conspicuous news conference held to

announce the indictment a year earlier.  But after careful review, I heard none of it.  I

heard many audible utterances, none of them decidedly and reliably inculpatory.

I promptly began another extended review of the recordings, now employing the

transcripts provided by the United States and the Aisenbergs.  I listened to the

recordings and compared what I heard with the transcripts provided by the United

States.  The disparity was shocking.  The Aisenbergs’ transcripts were much closer to

what I heard.  But, the passages I could hear (and some passages were quite audible)
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were inconsequential in any criminal sense.  With respect to the supposedly inculpatory

matters quoted in the indictment, invoked at the Maryland arraignment, broadcast

proudly by the United States at the news conference to announce the indictment, and

republished nationwide by the print and broadcast media, I heard none of it.

Alerted to the prospect that one or more Assistant United States Attorneys might

have advanced an ill-conceived prosecution, I expressed publicly at a hearing my

(purposefully generalized) concern about the recordings.  That concern, for example,

explains my order requiring the United States to file transcripts of the grand jury

testimony (in an effort to determine what, if anything, supported the indictment and what

role the recordings and transcripts played in the grand jurors’ deliberations).  However,

after my final review of the recordings and transcripts, I issued an order (which resolved

no pending motion and was entirely sua sponte) explaining (principally to the United

States) my studied view of the law governing the audibility of electronic recordings,

explaining that particularized reasons sometimes allow for admissibility of relevant

recordings even if highly inaudible and, more to the point of the present Hyde

Amendment dispute, announcing for the first time formally and publicly that the

recordings were “largely inaudible.”  The order (Doc. 288) states in part:

The Court listened to these recordings by several methods.  I listened at
least twice without the aid of any extrinsic matter.  I subsequently reviewed
certain transcripts offered by both the United States and the Aisenbergs.  I
listened repeatedly and to some extent compared the sounds on the
recordings to the competing transcripts.  Accordingly, I made a gradual
assessment of the quality of the recordings and the quality of the transcripts
and remained acutely conscious of any influence from the transcripts. 
(Although I have reviewed the Aisenbergs’ experts’ affidavits, they will play
no part in my determination.)  I have reviewed these recordings thoroughly
and attentively.
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The quality of these recordings generally is poor.  The recordings contain
background and foreground interference, other random noise, and
prominent distortions, which together materially obscure large portions of
most or all of these recordings.  Considered in gross, these recordings are
largely inaudible.  At least some of the matters appearing in quotation
marks in the indictment are inaudible.  

United States v. Aisenberg, 120 F. Supp. 2d 1345, 1352 (M.D. Fla. 2000).  This order

was intended principally to signal to the responsible supervision at the office of the

United States Attorney (who, perhaps, lacked first-hand knowledge of the matter) that

the presiding district judge harbored an informed view that the recordings upon which

the United States relied in this prosecution were apparently insubstantial as evidence

(although the order invites any pertinent reassurance in the event that the purpose of

the recordings was not visible from my vantage).  Finally, the order continued the

audibility hearing in deference to the schedule established by the magistrate judge for

the Franks hearing (if the recordings were suppressed, an audibility determination was

superfluous).  The audibility hearing never occurred; the results of the magistrate

judge’s inquiry into the Franks issue intruded decisively.

III.

Third, the Aisenbergs sought to suppress the proceeds of the electronic

surveillance in their home.  Based on Franks, the Aisenbergs asserted that the affidavits

supporting the application to the state circuit judge for interception authority were

supported by information provided by law enforcement with reckless disregard for the

truth.  The extended Franks hearing included the testimony of investigating officers and

other persons involved in procuring the warrant, a review in open court of the recordings

that resulted from the interceptions in the Aisenbergs’ home, and expert testimony
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concerning the recordings.  The magistrate judge’s report and recommendation

(Doc. 336) is attached to this order and incorporated by reference in its entirety into this

order.  The magistrate judge painstakingly detailed the troubled history of law

enforcement’s management of the interception.  His conclusions are compelling:

The Aisenbergs paint a consistent pattern, and they proved this pattern
beyond a preponderance of the evidence at the Franks hearing.  The
detectives report conversations no reasonably prudent listener can hear,
quote conversations that do not appear in the supporting transcript at all or 
in the manner described, and deliberately or with reckless disregard
summarize conversations out of context.  The government steadfastly
rejects all of this.  It does so against a record showing:  systemic, technical
problems producing recordings plagued by distortion, interference, and
mechanical noises; application transcripts that make no sense; revised
transcripts that continue to make no sense; revised transcripts that
contradict the application transcripts in material respects; a continual effort
to amend transcripts (to purportedly improve them) up to and through the
date of this report; admissions, as evidenced by the government’s
transcripts, that significant amounts of particular conversations cannot be
understood or were not recorded (due to minimizations); and the
government’s tacit acknowledgment that certain recordings are so poor or
so irrelevant it will not offer them as evidence at trial.

As detailed at length by the magistrate judge, the officials responsible for the

warrant applications left a trail of reckless disregard for the truth and, of course, for the

rights and well-being of the Aisenbergs.  The magistrate judge observed that:

The government hears what no reasonably prudent listener can; it
interprets what can be heard as no reasonably prudent listener would. 
Faced with the quality and nature of the recordings so far presented in this
case, it is doubtful any judge, no matter how skilled and dedicated, could
parse the conversations into its component parts looking for evidence of
murder, sale of a minor child, child neglect with great bodily harm, or
aggravated child abuse. . . . [I]n this case, the nature and quality of the
recordings make it impossible.  Moreover, the reality is that if evidence of
these crimes existed, if the Defendants’ intercepted conversations proved
they had done these things to their child, they would not be in the dock of a
federal court charged with false statement violations. . . .
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. . .  The government’s central theme is the Defendants falsely reported
their daughter had been kidnapped.  Obviously, it proposes to use the
Defendants’ intercepted conversations to prove something else likely
happened to the child.  The indictment, like the intercept applications,
insinuates two possible scenarios:  the Defendants either murdered or sold
their child.  If the government’s approach at the Franks hearing is
indicative, the government is not wedded to a specific theory.  Either
supposition, murder or sale of a child, will suffice, so long as it is plausible
enough to convince a jury beyond a reasonable doubt the Defendants lied
to investigators as charged.  Yet, the intercepted conversations do not
support probable cause to believe the Defendants murdered their child, the
only offense authorized by FLA. STAT. § 934.07 (1997).  Nor do these
conversations provide probable cause to believe the Defendants committed
the other crimes listed in the applications.

In the end, the magistrate judge recommended granting the Aisenbergs’ motion to

suppress the recordings arising from the three orders issued in state court--an initial

warrant and two extensions.  The United States’ motion to dismiss the indictment

against the Aisenbergs followed the magistrate judge’s recommendation by only a few

days. 

Although neither party lodged objections to the magistrate judge’s report and

recommendation and no formal review by the district judge occurred (the dismissal

mooted review), my subsequent detailed review of the papers pertinent to the Franks

hearing and the testimony and exhibits received by the magistrate judge during the

Franks hearing reveals no misapprehension by the magistrate judge of either fact or law

and no basis on which to disagree with his studied conclusions.  (Of course, this

dismissed action provides no present occasion for objections by the parties or formal

acceptance or rejection of the magistrate judge’s report and recommendation.) 

Similarly, I find no reason to fault the magistrate judge’s choice of words and phrases in

his writing.  Admittedly, the conclusions at which he arrives are starkly expressed and
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unmistakable, without undue gloss, evasion, or deflection.  The magistrate judge’s

choice of direct and focused language serves admirably to convey the force of the

disturbing reality that produced the present Hyde Amendment controversy.  In fact, the

magistrate judge’s order--although unsettling--is a temperate, fair, and cogent

expression of the history he discovered during the Franks hearing and during his

contemplation of his ruling.  After my review of this matter, including the Franks hearing

and its aftermath, over many months, I confirm that history; I join the magistrate judge in

each of his words.  

The magistrate judge issued his report and recommendation on February 14,

2001.  (Doc. 336)  One week later, on February 21, 2001, the United States moved for

leave to dismiss the indictment against the Aisenbergs.  (Doc. 341)  The indictment was

dismissed the next day.  (Doc. 342)  On March 26, 2001, the Aisenbergs moved for an

award under the Hyde Amendment.  (Doc. 367)  The United States responded in

opposition on July 2, 2001.  (Doc. 378)  The Aisenbergs filed a reply on August 21,

2001.  (Doc. 382)  After a court-ordered mediation resulted in an impasse, the parties

filed numerous supplemental papers.  The parties presented their arguments in a four-

day hearing on October 21, 22, 23, and 25, 2002, followed by an additional round of

supplemental papers, leaving for present determination the issue of the Aisenbergs’

award of a “reasonable attorney’s fee and litigation expenses” under the Hyde

Amendment.  
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THE HYDE AMENDMENT

In United States v. Gilbert, 136 F.3d 1451 (11th Cir. 1998), the defendant was

indicted after expiration of the statute of limitations, and the resulting conviction was

reversed.  On remand, the defendant unsuccessfully sought an award of attorney’s fees

and expenses under the Hyde Amendment.  In United States v. Gilbert, 198 F.3d 1293

(11th Cir. 1999), the circuit court affirmed the denial of fees because the legal issue that

resulted in reversal of the conviction was a question of first impression, with respect to

which the district court agreed (erroneously) with the United States.  (As the circuit court

noted, “Once a district court judge accepts the government’s legal position it will be

extremely difficult to persuade us that the issue was not debatable among reasonable

lawyers and jurists, i.e., that it was frivolous.”  198 F.3d at 1304.)  

Gilbert’s interpretation of the Hyde Amendment, expounded by Judge Carnes in

his opinion for the court, is controlling in the Eleventh Circuit (and favorably cited

elsewhere throughout the United States by both appellate and trial courts).  Gilbert

includes both a review of the legislative history of the Hyde Amendment and an

elaboration of the statutory terms “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith.”  

“Vexatious” means “without reasonable or probable cause or excuse. 
Black’s Law Dictionary 1559 (7th ed. 1999); see also Christiansburg
Garment Co. v. EEOC, 434 U.S. 412, 421, 98 S. Ct. 694, 700, 54 L.Ed.2d
648 (1978) (describing “vexatious” conduct in the Title VII context as being
“frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation, even though not brought in
subjective bad faith”).  A “frivolous action” is one that is “[g]roundless . . .
with little prospect of success; often brought to embarrass or annoy the
defendant.”  Black’s Law Dictionary 668 (6th ed. 1990); see also
Fed. R. Civ. P. 11.  Finally, “bad faith” “is not simply bad judgment or
negligence, but rather it implies the conscious doing of a wrong because of
dishonest purpose or moral obliquity; . . . it contemplates a state of mind
affirmatively operating with furtive design or ill will.”  Black’s Law Dictionary



5 The phrase “litigation expenses” immediately strikes the informed observer as a legislative
choice to avoid the more familiar term “costs,” the statutory term most often used in conjunction with the
price of litigation.  See, e.g., 28 U.S.C. § 1290; Fed. R. Civ. P. 54(d)(1).  An award of “costs,” to which a
party is entitled by operation of statute, is more narrowly constrained than an award of “litigation
expenses,” an expansive term that detaches the restrictions buried in the term “costs” and gravitates
explicitly toward a measure of actual, out-of-pocket expenditures incurred as a reasonably necessary
incident of conducting a capable and informed defense.

- 24 -

139 (6th ed. 1990); see also Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 171, 98
S. Ct. 2674, 2684, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978) (defining bad faith in the law
enforcement context to include “reckless disregard for the truth”).

198 F.3d at 1298-99.  In this instance, the United States concedes that the prosecution

of the Aisenbergs warrants the award of both a reasonable attorney’s fee and other

litigation expenses because the Aisenbergs suffered a prosecution that was either

“frivolous, vexatious, or in bad faith.”  The amount of the resulting award, which

depends upon proper application of the Hyde Amendment, remains in controversy.  

The Hyde Amendment, as explained in Gilbert, passed through Congress with

relative alacrity and left little, if any, meaningful legislative history.  Gilbert judges the

statutory language unambiguous and unaffected by the vagaries of its minimal

legislative history.  The Hyde Amendment’s salient provision prescribes an “award to a

prevailing party” of “a reasonable attorney’s fee and other litigation expenses” after an

unsuccessful criminal prosecution that the court finds “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad

faith.”5  (The statute immediately excepts undefined “special circumstances [that] make

such an award unjust,” a provision inapplicable to the Aisenbergs’ prosecution.)  

The phrase “reasonable attorney’s fee” is familiar to the law and subject to

clarification by established principles elaborated in a plentiful supply of appellate

opinions.  See, e.g., Pennsylvania v. Delaware Valley Citizens’ Council for Clean Air,
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478 U.S. 546, 106 S. Ct. 3088 (1986); Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 103 S. Ct.

1933 (1983); Norman v. Hous. Auth. of City of Montgomery, 836 F.2d 1292 (11th Cir.

1988); Johnson v. Georgia Highway Exp., Inc., 488 F.2d 714 (5th Cir. 1974).  Only

phrases such as “reasonable doubt” or “proximate cause” are equally familiar in the law. 

Few, if any, phrases in the language of the law are more readily recognized, more

frequently litigated, or more familiar to judges, lawyers, and litigants in the United

States.  No one familiar with the law, lawyers, or litigation is unfamiliar with the phrase

“reasonable fee.”  The phrase “reasonable fee” recurs in all jurisdictions, state and

federal, in contract disputes and tort disputes, in civil cases and criminal cases, in cases

great and small, in the trial courts and the appellate courts, and in lawyers’ offices and

clients’ conference rooms.  The law of professional responsibility applicable in each of

the states pervasively and jealously enforces the notion of a “reasonable fee” in every

legal engagement.

Congress presumably understood the phrase “reasonable attorney’s fee” to bear

the definition established under the governing law.  As stated in Morissette v. United

States, 342 U.S. 246, 263, 72 S. Ct. 240, 250 (1952):

And where Congress borrows terms of art in which are accumulated the
legal tradition and meaning of centuries of practice, it presumably knows
and adopts the cluster of ideas that were attached to each borrowed word
in the body of learning from which it was taken and the meaning its use will
convey to the judicial mind unless otherwise instructed.  In such case,
absence of contrary direction may be taken as satisfaction with widely
accepted definitions, not as a departure from them.  



6 The choice of “pursuant to” followed by “limitations” is an awkward construction, creating the
mildly oxymoronic notion of an “award” accomplished “pursuant to” a “limitation.” “Pursuant to” smoothly
and logically fits between “award” and “procedures” (i.e., an “award pursuant to procedures” specified
elsewhere) but not between “award” and “limitation” (i.e., an “award pursuant to limitations” specified
elsewhere).  The Hyde Amendment in its essential and heartland language grants a “reasonable fee . . .
pursuant to Section 2412" and not “a reasonable fee . . . [subject to] Section 2412.”  This choice of
“pursuant to” rather than “subject to” conveys part of a legislative message, discussed more fully
elsewhere in this order.
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See also Napier v. Preslicka, 314 F.3d 528, 532 (11th Cir. 2002) (“Congress is

presumed to know the settled legal meaning of the terms it uses in enacted statutes and

to use those terms in the settled sense.”).  

The Hyde Amendment’s statutory award of a “reasonable attorney’s fee and other

litigation expenses” is followed by this sentence:

Such awards shall be granted pursuant to the procedures and limitations
(but not the burden of proof) provided for an award under section 2412 of
Title 28, United States Code.

In other words, the awards specified in the first sentence of the Hyde Amendment are

“pursuant to the procedures and limitations” of “section 2412,” which is the Equal

Access to Justice Act (EAJA), a statute that provides for fee awards in certain civil

cases.  The Hyde Amendment neither further defines nor further specifies the particular

“procedures and limitations” to which the statute refers.6 

To which “procedures and limitations” does the Hyde Amendment refer?  This

question presents an issue of signal importance both to the Aisenbergs and to every

other victim of a prosecution that is “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith.”  The principal

issue of present importance (given, in this case, the concession by the United States

that the Hyde Amendment applies) is whether, as the United States contends, the Hyde

Amendment incorporates the $125 per hour cap on attorney’s fees that appears in a
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parenthetical in Section 2412(d)(2)(A) and, if so, whether the $125 per hour cap

supersedes the Hyde Amendment’s award of a “reasonable attorney’s fee.”  

To illustrate the pertinent issue of statutory construction, consider this

hypothetical:  (1) Assume that the primary statute under consideration grants to a

prevailing criminal defendant a remedial "award" of $100 if the court finds a prosecutor

maliciously maintained a criminal action against the prevailing defendant but assume

that the primary statute is silent concerning the time within which a claimant must apply. 

(2) Assume also that the primary statute provides that the "award" granted in the

primary statute is "pursuant to" the "procedures and limitations" specified in a secondary

statute (situated in a different title of the pertinent code), which governs compensatory

awards if a court finds that an entirely different and less offensive circumstance has

occurred in a civil action.  (3) Assume further that the "award" in the secondary statute

governing the civil action is specifically limited to only $10 and to only those claims

submitted in writing within thirty days.  (4) Assume finally that the pertinent claimant is a

prevailing party under the primary statute and that the prevailing party’s claim is $100.  

Assuming these matters, is the claimant entitled to the $100 awarded in the

primary statute or to only the $10 provided in the secondary statute?  Is the claimant

party required to apply within thirty days?  This order adopts a construction (1) by which

the primary statute entitles the prevailing party to $100 in accord with the primary

statute’s heartland grant (notwithstanding the more restrictive grant of the secondary

statute to which the primary statute refers) and (2) by which the prevailing party must

apply in writing within thirty days, as required by only those “procedures and limitations”
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(a) that are incorporated by reference into the primary statute and prescribed in the

secondary statute and (b) that implement and advance, but neither contradict nor

negate, the preeminent grant of the primary statute.  

In summary, evaluation of the Hyde Amendment in its relation to Section 2412

reveals three alternative interpretations, each of which leads to the same result in the

circumstances of the Aisenberg prosecution.  First, although the Hyde Amendment

purports to incorporate certain “procedures and limitations” prescribed in the Section

2412, not all available “procedures and limitations” are incorporated because some are

irreconcilable with the plain terms of the Hyde Amendment.  With respect to attorney’s

fees, the Hyde Amendment grants a “reasonable attorney’s fee and other litigation

expenses.”  The inconsistent provisions of Section 2412 (limiting the award to $125 per

hour) are not incorporated into the Hyde Amendment.  Second (and alternatively), to the

extent that the Hyde Amendment incorporates the “procedures and limitations” of

Section 2412 with respect to attorney’s fees, the question recurs whether Section 2412

contains any limitation applicable to an award to the Aisenbergs, who are the victims of

a prosecution that was “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith.”  Because a “vexatious,

frivolous, or bad faith” prosecution is more nearly within the purview of the “bad faith”

that the common law compensates by a reasonable fee under Section 2412(b) than the

term “substantially unjustified” under Section 2412(d), no applicable limitation appears

in Section 2412, which provides, exactly as the Hyde Amendment provides, for a

“reasonable attorney’s fee” in instances of “bad faith.”  In other words, although Section

2412(d) provides for a $125 per hour cap in the event of a “substantially unjustified”
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action, Section 2412(b) provides for “reasonable attorney’s fees” in instances of “bad

faith,” which is the circumstance encountered by the Aisenbergs.  Therefore, in “bad

faith” cases, Section 2412 contains no applicable limitation on attorney’s fees and

awards a “reasonable fee,” precisely the award granted by the Hyde Amendment.  Third

(again alternatively), even if the limitation of Section 2412 is incorporated and the

incorporation includes the $125 per hour cap, the Aisenbergs’ prosecution presents a

compelling array of “special factors” that permit a departure from the $125 per hour cap

and that warrant the award of a reasonable attorney’s fee to compensate the

Aisenbergs.  A detailed explanation follows.

I.

A subsection-by-subsection review of Section 2412 confirms that the $125 per

hour cap imposed on an attorney’s fee in Section 2412(d)(2)(A) is inapplicable to the

Hyde Amendment.  More specifically, a detailed (and, unfortunately, somewhat

laborious) review of Section 2412 reveals several statutory provisions within Section

2412 that are fairly within the scope of the phrase “procedures and limitations” that

appears in the Hyde Amendment and are, accordingly, arguably candidates for

incorporation into the Hyde Amendment.  Some standard must govern whether all of

these provisions, none of these provisions, or only some of these provisions in

Section 2412 are incorporated into the Hyde Amendment.  Congress undoubtedly

enjoys the power to incorporate all of them, none of them, or some of them; the

pertinent question is answered by discerning congressional intent (i.e., the statutory

purpose) in this particular instance.
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Section 2412(a) deals with “costs and fees.”  Section 2412(a) presents no

“procedure” or “limitation” except that cost awards against the United States are limited

to “reimbursing in whole or in part the prevailing party for the costs incurred by such a

party in the litigation.”  The consequent interpretive question is whether the broad term

“other litigation expenses” in the first sentence of the Hyde Amendment is limited by the

term “costs” used in Section 2412(a).  The most reasonable interpretation is that the

principal purpose of the Hyde Amendment, exactly as the statute provides in its

dominant first sentence, is to provide for the award of “a reasonable attorney’s fee and

other litigation expenses” in the circumstances described in the Hyde Amendment.  The

incidental reference to “costs” embedded in a part of Section 2412 governing “costs” in

civil actions involving the United States, although arguably a “limitation,” neither

impliedly amends nor otherwise diminishes the essential purpose of the Hyde

Amendment, which is to authorize an award of a “reasonable attorney’s fee and other

litigation expenses.”  This “limitation” in Section 2412(a) is inapplicable to the Hyde

Amendment because importing the “limitation” contravenes the Hyde Amendment

illogically, reducing the statute’s work to a nullity, a disfavored and incongruous result.  

Section 2412(b) contains no explicit “procedure” or “limitation,” but Section

2412(c) provides for payment of a judgment for “costs” or “attorney’s fees and expenses

of litigation” as provided in Sections 2414 and 2517, which allow for payment of

judgments against the United States by the Secretary of the Treasury, sometimes with

approval by the Attorney General.  Section 2412(c) also creates an exception “if the

basis for the award is a finding that the United States acted in bad faith,” in which
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instance “the award shall be paid by any agency found to have acted in bad faith. . . . ” 

Is this limitation to only “bad faith” cases a “limitation” or a “procedure” of Section 2412

that applies to the Hyde Amendment, which requires the Department of Justice to

answer for fees and expenses incurred by a defendant in a “vexatious, frivolous, or bad

faith” prosecution?  The only reasonable interpretation is that a statute that requires the

Department of Justice to pay fees and expenses in the event of a “vexatious, frivolous,

or bad faith prosecution” is not limited by the requirements of Section 2412 that the

Secretary of the Treasury pays except in cases of “bad faith,” even if the Hyde

Amendment purports to defer to the “limitations” of Section 2412.  The central

commands of the Hyde Amendment cannot be adulterated by reference to limitations of

another statute “pursuant to” which the terms of the Hyde Amendment are supposedly

implemented.  Those limitations can be imported into the Hyde Amendment only to the

extent that the essential commands of the Hyde Amendment are unimpaired.  (Actually,

no conflict should exist between the Hyde Amendment and Section 2412(c) because

the concept of “bad faith” under Section 2412 is sufficiently broad to include a

prosecution that was either “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith.”  But, if not, the Hyde

Amendment’s requirement that the offending agency pay the award apparently yields to

Section 2412's requirement that the Department of Treasury pay the award except in

“bad faith” cases, leaving the Department of Treasury to pay Hyde Amendment claims

in frivolous and vexatious cases but not in bad faith cases--an absurdity.)  

Section 2412(d)(1)(A) first provides that, in addition to the costs awarded under

Section 2412(a), a “prevailing party” is entitled to an award of “fees and other expenses
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. . . unless the court finds that the position of the United States was substantially

justified or that special circumstances make an award unjust.”  Is “substantially justified”

a “limitation” that the Hyde Amendment adopts by force of the reference to Section

2412?  The Hyde Amendment fixes the standard of proof at “vexatious, frivolous, or in

bad faith.”  Although the Hyde Amendment purports to incorporate “procedures and

limitations” from Section 2412, importation into the Hyde Amendment of the

“substantially justified” standard would abrogate the essential grant that characterizes

the Hyde Amendment and, consequently, apply the Hyde Amendment in unintended

circumstances.  Again, despite the literal terms of the Hyde Amendment, Section 2412's

limitation to “substantially unjustified” actions by the United States is inapplicable to the

Hyde Amendment.

Similarly, the question recurs whether the Hyde Amendment incorporates the

exclusion in Section 2412(d)(1)(A) when “special circumstances make an award unjust.” 

Obviously, the Hyde Amendment contains exactly the same language.  If the Hyde

Amendment automatically incorporates the “special circumstances” language of Section

2412(d)(1)(A), the “special circumstances” language in the Hyde Amendment becomes

mere surplusage, a useless redundancy.  The law disfavors an interpretation that

renders statutory words redundant, meaningless, or absurd.  2A Norman J. Singer,

Statutes and Statutory Construction (“Sutherland Statutory Construction”) § 46:06

(6th ed. 2000).  If Congress directed that every “procedure and limitation” in Section

2412 was engrafted automatically into the Hyde Amendment, inclusion in the Hyde

Amendment of the “special circumstances” phrase was a futile and unnecessary
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exertion.  The sounder conclusion is that the “special circumstances” language was

placed into the Hyde Amendment because congressional intent required inclusion,

despite the phrase’s pre-existing presence in Section 2412.  In other words, once again,

to preserve the congressional intent and meaning of the words of the Hyde Amendment,

a “procedure” or “limitation” from Section 2412 is not borrowed.

Section 2412(d)(1)(B) presents the “procedures and limitations” most readily and

reasonably applicable to the Hyde Amendment.  Section 2412(d)(1)(B) requires

submission within thirty days after final judgment (the statute says “thirty days of,” but

presumably means “after”) of a detailed application both demonstrating the party’s

entitlement and containing an “itemized statement” of the attorney’s and expert’s fees

and other expenses.  Of course, a party claiming a fee under Section 2412(d)(1)(A)

must “allege that the position of the United States was not “substantially justified.”

However, in contrast to the easily assimilated “procedure” requiring a detailed,

written application within thirty days, the last sentence of Section 2412(d)(1)(B) states:

Whether or not the position of the United States was substantially justified
shall be determined on the basis of the record (including the record with
respect to the action or failure to act by the agency upon which the civil
action is based) which is made in the civil action for which fees and other
expenses are sought.

This unquestionably presents a “limitation” (and, perhaps, also a “procedure”).  In a

proceeding to which this latter sentence applies the presiding judge is restricted to the

record in the case to which the fee application pertains.  In other words, the parties are

allowed no further submissions.  On the contrary, the Hyde Amendment provides that:

To determine whether or not to award fees and costs under this section, the
court, for good cause shown, may receive evidence ex parte and in camera
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(which shall include the submission of classified evidence or evidence that
reveals or might reveal the identity of an informant or undercover agent or
matters occurring before a grand jury) and evidence or testimony so
received shall be kept under seal.

Again, Section 2412(d)(1)(B) offers a “limitation” for possible incorporation into the

Hyde Amendment by force of the “procedures and limitations” clause.  Should the

incorporation occur and thereby supersede the possibility of the submission of

“classified evidence” and the like expressly allowed by the Hyde Amendment?  Reason

suggests that the language of the Hyde Amendment governs over inconsistent

language in Section 2412(d)(1)(B) and, notwithstanding the language of the Hyde

Amendment incorporating the “limitations” of Section 2412, the explicit and heartland

grants of the Hyde Amendment, including the provision for additional submissions

(including ex parte submissions), remain in force despite inconsistent provisions in

Section 2412.

 Section 2412(d)(1)(C) provides that the court may “reduce” or “deny” a fee award

“pursuant to this subsection” if the prevailing party “engaged in conduct which unduly

and unreasonably protracted the final resolution of the matter in controversy.”  Of

course, in awarding a “reasonable fee” under any statutory or contractual provision, a

court is not bound to compensate for undue or unreasonable conduct, without respect to

Section 2412(d)(1)(C).  In that sense, Section 2412(d)(1)(C) is a congressional reminder

disguised as a directive and contains no “procedure or limitation” pertinent to the Hyde

Amendment.  (One wonders at what moment a defendant’s resistance to a frivolous,

vexatious, or bad faith prosecution becomes “undue.”  One reasonable answer, subject

to the dictates of law and ethics, is “Never.”)  
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Section 2412(d)(1)(D), which applies to “a civil action brought by the United

States” and “agency action” to enforce a statute or regulation, provides for an award of

“fees and other expenses related to defending against [an] excessive demand” by the

United States, except in instances of “willful violation of law,” “bad faith,” or “special

circumstances” that “make an award unjust.”  Is this “limitation” incorporated into the

Hyde Amendment, which, literally construed, adopts without limitation the “procedures”

and “limitations” of Section 2412?  For example, if a criminal defendant willfully and

demonstrably violated the criminal law but is vexatiously indicted after expiration of the

statute of limitations, i.e., after the prosecution is barred, can the United States

successfully resist the defendant’s consequent Hyde Amendment claim by asserting the

defendant’s “willful violation” of the law, as provided in Section 2412(d)(1)(D)?  Of

course not.  Common sense forbids the result.  Notwithstanding the putative, wholesale

incorporation by the Hyde Amendment of the “procedures and limitations” of Section

2412, the Hyde Amendment’s grant of relief to vexatiously indicted defendants (even if

guilty of a statutory violation) is not suspended by the provision of a civil statute that

precludes a fee award if the defendant acted in willful violation of the law or in bad faith. 

Further, the final sentence of Section 2412(d)(1)(D) provides that, “Fees and

expenses awarded under this paragraph shall be paid only as a consequence of

appropriations provided in advance.”  Although not entirely unambiguous, this provision

apparently limits awards to circumstances in which a congressional appropriation has

been “provided in advance,” i.e., Congress has created a designated fund for payment. 

In other words, if no congressional appropriation has occurred “in advance” for the
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designated purpose of compensation under Section 2412(d)(1)(D), no award of fees

and expenses, even if granted by the court, “shall be paid” by the United States.  Is this

“limitation” superimposed on the Hyde Amendment perforce the language that

incorporates into the Hyde Amendment the “procedures and limitations” of Section

2412?  Of course, the Hyde Amendment contains a precisely contrary direction

concerning payment.  The Hyde Amendment commands that:

Fees and other expenses awarded under this provision to a party shall be
paid by the agency over which the party prevails from any funds made
available to the agency by appropriation.  No new appropriations shall be
made as a result of this provision.

Although some basis exists for varying interpretation, Section 2412(d)(1)(D)

seems to protect the United States and its agencies from an award of attorney’s fees

and costs in civil cases unless an earmarked appropriation is provided in advance.  In

contrast, the Hyde Amendment in qualifying cases subjects the Department of Justice

to payment of a “reasonable attorney’s fee and other litigation expenses,” requires the

Department of Justice to pay the award from the agency’s general appropriation, and

prohibits any compensating or “new” appropriation to the Department of Justice to offset

payments incurred “as a result of this provision,” i.e., incurred as a result of the Hyde

Amendment.  In short, Section 2412(d)(1)(D) permits payments of fees and costs only if

the agency is financially prepared by the mechanism of an anticipatory appropriation. 

On the other hand, Hyde Amendment payments are intended to resonate within the

affected agency by denting the money available for the agency’s other activities--

without the prospect of reimbursement.  Does Section 2412(d)(1)(D) of EAJA trump and

nullify the Hyde Amendment by force of the provision in the Hyde Amendment
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incorporating the “limitations” of Section 2412?  Reading the Hyde Amendment too

literally, the answer is “Yes.”  However, because incorporating the advance

appropriation provision of Section 2412(d)(1)(D) utterly neutralizes the Hyde

Amendment’s prohibition against a compensating appropriation to counter the

budgetary effect of Hyde Amendment assessments, sound principles of statutory

construction forbid incorporating into the Hyde Amendment a provision contrary to the

express commands of the statute.  In other words, the essential and motivating purpose

of the statute is not subordinated to the inconsistent or impeding purpose of another

statute merely because the former purports to adopt provisions of the latter, “pursuant

to” which the former is to be implemented and “pursuant to” which its statutory purpose

is to be effected.  Congress intended only to incorporate those provisions consistent

with and useful to the heartland provisions of the primary statute.  Stated differently, the

dominant statute is neither controlled nor frustrated by the supporting statute and, if

conflict appears, the dominant statute governs.  

Section 2412(d)(2) provides certain definitions but limits those definitions to “the

purposes of this subsection.”  Section 2412(d)(2)(A) defines “fees and other expenses”

and provides that the defined phrase “includes” both “reasonable attorney’s fees” and

several other components, principally related to the exertions of experts and experts’

analyses and reports.  This definition contains no “limitation” pertinent to the Hyde

Amendment.  However, following the definition is a parenthetical statement, reminiscent

of the language of Section 2412(d)(1)(C), which states that the “fees” (the parenthetical

does not employ the phrase “reasonable fee” or “reasonable attorney’s fee”) “awarded
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under this subsection . . . shall not be awarded in excess of $125 per hour” (except in

circumstances not pertinent here but which are discussed below).  

The clause “fees awarded under this subsection” of EAJA obviously is not a

reference to the award of “a reasonable attorney’s fee” under the Hyde Amendment. 

The parenthetical in Section 2412(d)(2)(A) contains self-limiting language that restricts

the application of the $125 per hour provision to “fees awarded under this subsection,”

that is, fees awarded under Section 2412(d) of EAJA.  An award of “a reasonable

attorney’s fee” under the Hyde Amendment is not an award of a fee under EAJA. 

Likewise, an award of a fee under EAJA is not an award of a fee under the Hyde

Amendment.  Reference in the Hyde Amendment to certain “procedures and limitations”

in EAJA does not transform a fee under the Hyde Amendment to a fee award under

EAJA, and certainly not to an “award of fees under this subsection,” as stated in Section

2412(d)(2)(A).  One is not the other; the two should not be confused.

The question presented by the Hyde Amendment’s reference to Section 2412 and

its “procedures and limitations” is whether the Hyde Amendment’s signal grant, i.e., the

award of a “reasonable fee,” is frustrated and overridden by a merely parenthetical

provision in the definition section of a subsection of EAJA, which parenthetical on its

face refers only to “fees awarded under the subsection” (by which the provision

obviously means Section 2412(d)).  In fact, the parenthetical limitation in Section

2412(d)(2)(A) fails to restrict an award under Section 2412(b) or any other statute that

awards fees, except the specific “subsection” to which it applies by its own language.  In

other words, only a fee calculated under Section 2412(d), the only “subsection” to which
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Section 2412(d)(2)(A) refers, is subject to the parenthetical in Section 2412(d)(2)(A). 

No other fee award is affected, including the award of a “reasonable fee” under either

Section 2412(b) or the Hyde Amendment.  Common sense rejects applying to the Hyde

Amendment the limits of Section 2412(d)(2)(A), which do not even limit the balance of

Section 2412.  Section 2412(d)(2)(A) is not a “limitation of Section 2412" but is more

strictly a limitation of only Section 2412(d).

Section 2412(d)(2)(A) also contains in the same parenthetical sentence (the

parenthetical containing the $125 per hour provision) a provision that no “expert witness

shall be compensated at a rate in excess of the highest rate of compensation for expert

witnesses paid by the United States.”  Does the Hyde Amendment incorporate this

limitation by force of the “procedures and limitations” clause?  For the reasons

explained earlier, the plain language “awarded under this subsection” explicitly limits the

expert witness cap to fees awarded under Section 2412(d), the subsection in which the

provision occurs and to which the provision refers exclusively.  But, even without the

limiting language, the expert fee cap of Section 2412(d)(2)(A) is inapplicable to the

Hyde Amendment.  Again, the Hyde Amendment purports to capture the “limitations” of

Section 2412.  Does this arcane provision capping expert fees based on the

government’s rate of pay trump the Hyde Amendment’s broad award of “other litigation

expenses”?  Suppose the United States employs no independent experts and elects to

use only law enforcement officers and employees of the FBI’s famous criminal



7 Of course, this case presents no occasion to confront this potential difficulty because the United
States retained Anthony Pellicano for “expert” analysis of the disputed recordings.  The United States
reimbursed Pellicano at $250 per hour for out of court work and $350 per hour for in court work, a
surprisingly generous rate given Pellicano’s credentials, and in excess of any of the notably more
reputable experts retained by the Aisenbergs.  See Tr. of Hr’g, Dec. 18, 2000, (Doc. 332) at 34.
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laboratory.  Is the defendant barred from recovery?7  Again, sound statutory

construction forbids that result.  

Unlike Section 2412(d)(2)(A), the language of Section 2412(d)(2)(B) contains no

express restriction to “fees awarded under this subsection.”  Section 2412(d)(2)(B)

purports to create classes of persons and entities excluded from access to the benefits

of the subsection.  For example, an individual whose “net worth”--the subsection

provides no definition of “net worth”--exceeds two million dollars “at the time the civil

action was filed” is excluded from the benefits of the subsection.  See City of Brunswick

v. United States, 849 F.2d 501 (11th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1053, 109 S. Ct.

1313 (1989).  Because the Aisenbergs’ net worth was (the parties stipulate) less than

two million dollars on the day of their indictment, the Aisenbergs are unaffected by

Section 2412(d)(2)(B).  In fact, this case presents no occasion for the consideration of

this provision, except as an indicator of the proper interpretation of the balance of

Section 2412 in its relation to the Hyde Amendment.  (The question whether the

statutory classification scheme in particular criminal cases carries constitutional

implications or otherwise affects an invidious distinction is outside the present scope.) 

More specifically, the Hyde Amendment provides an award of an attorney’s fee and

litigation expenses to “a prevailing party, other than the United States.”  If incorporated

into the Hyde Amendment by force of the “procedures and limitations” clause, Section
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2412(d)(2)(B) simply identifies “a prevailing party” and creates no conflict with, and

effects no emendation of, the Hyde Amendment.  (If the Hyde Amendment awarded a

fee to “every prevailing party,” “any person whatsoever,” or the like, the provisions of

Section 2412(d)(2)(B) would more nearly clash irreconcilably with the Hyde Amendment

and create a problem of interpretation.)  For the purposes of the interpretation

necessary to resolve the present case, Section 2412(d)(2)(B), neither limited by its

language to “fees awarded under this subsection” nor clashing with any prescription of

the Hyde Amendment, is incorporated into the Hyde Amendment by the “procedures

and limitations” clause of Section 2412.

Sections 2412(d)(2)(C)-(d)(2)(I) and Section 2412(d)(3) provide several specific

definitions and other provisions which are either logically irrelevant to the Hyde

Amendment (for example, Section 2412(d)(2)(H) governs primarily eminent domain

cases) or which fit comfortably within the Hyde Amendment (for example, Section

2412(d)(2)(F) defines “court” in a manner inoffensive to the Hyde Amendment). 

Similarly, Section 2412(d)(3) applies to two categories of cases, those under 5 U.S.C.

§ 504(b)(1)(C) (certain administrative proceedings) and an “adversary adjudication

under the Contract Disputes Act of 1978.”  See 41 U.S.C. § 605, et seq.  However, as

an indication of the proper interpretation of the Hyde Amendment, a review of these

sections is informative because the Hyde Amendment awards fees “pursuant to” the

“procedures and limitations” of Section 2412, and Section 2412(d)(2) and

Section 2412(d)(3) contain numerous “limitations.”  None of these, even if subject to

tortuous or overly literal interpretation, rightly applies to the Hyde Amendment.  For
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example, Section 2412(d)(3) refers again to the “substantially justified” standard,

although the words of the subsection limit the application of the “substantially justified”

standard to actions under 5 U.S.C. § 504(b)(1)(C) and the Contract Disputes Act of

1978.  This “limitation” should be construed in accordance with its specific language (“In

awarding fees and other expenses under this subsection . . .”), that is, to apply to 5

U.S.C. § 504(b)(1)(C) and the Contract Disputes Act of 1978, and not construed as a

“limitation” borrowed by the “procedures and limitations” clause of the Hyde Amendment

for superimposition over the express terms of the Hyde Amendment.  

Section 2412(d)(4) provides in language similar to that of the Hyde Amendment

that:

Fees and other expenses awarded under this subsection to a party shall be 
paid by any agency over which the party prevails from any funds made
available to the agency by appropriation or otherwise.

With the addition of this section, the list of conflicting statutory sources of money for

payment of Hyde Amendment fees lengthens ominously.  The Hyde Amendment

provides for payment “by the agency over which the party prevails from any funds made

available to the agency by appropriation.  No new appropriations shall be made as a

result of this provision.”  The Hyde Amendment provides that “award shall be granted

pursuant to the procedures and limitations . . . provided under Section 2412 of Title 28

. . . .”  Section 2412 contains no fewer than four limitations on the source and

allowability of payments of fees, one in Section 2412(c)(1), one in Section 2412(c)(2),

one in Section 2412(d)(1)(C), and one in Section 2412(d)(4).  Two options present

themselves for consideration.  The first option is to apply only the limitation expressed in
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the text of the Hyde Amendment and require the Department of Justice to pay Hyde

Amendment awards out of current funds without a compensating appropriation,

precisely as Congress directed and notwithstanding the “procedures and limitations”

clause referring to Section 2412.  This option proceeds on the assumption that the

words of the Hyde Amendment prevail over any contrary words in Section 2412, to

which the Hyde Amendment refers for “procedures and limitations.”  This order adopts

this first option.  The other option is to apply the “procedures and limitations” language

unguardedly and attempt to determine which of Section 2412's four, somewhat different

provisions (some of which in turn refer to 18 U.S.C. §§ 2414 and 2517 for guidance)

regarding the source of fee awards should supersede the precise language of the Hyde

Amendment.  This “other option” results in an absurdity and is self-defeating, although

commended by a too-literal reading of the Hyde Amendment’s “procedures and

limitations” clause.  

Section 2412(e) pertains only to certain proceedings under the Internal Revenue

Code and, although plainly a “limitation” contained within Section 2412, is not

incorporated into the Hyde Amendment.  Section 2412(f) (mercifully, the last provision

of Section 2412) provides that:

If the United States appeals an award of costs or fees and other expenses 
made against the United States under this section and the award is affirmed
in whole or in part, interest shall be paid on the amount of the award as
affirmed.  Such interest shall be computed at the rate determined under
section 1961(a) of  this title, and shall run from the date of the award
through the day before the date of the mandate of affirmance.

Is an amount awarded under the Hyde Amendment subject to Section 2412(f)?  Simply

stated, this right of interest on a judgment against the United States is not a “procedure



8 In other contexts Congress has succinctly avoided this difficulty by providing a specific statutory
cross reference.  See, e.g., 11 U.S.C. § 106(a)(3) (Bankruptcy Code fee shifting provision, which provides,
"Such order or judgment for costs or fees under this title or the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure
against any governmental unit shall be consistent with the provisions and limitations of section
2412(d)(2)(A) of title 28."); 31 U.S.C. § 3730(g) (False Claims Act fee shifting provision, which provides,
"In civil actions brought under this section by the United States, the provisions of section 2412(d) of title 28
shall apply.").
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or limitation” of any kind.  The entitlement to interest under Section 2412(f) is merely a

statutory “right,” generally unavailable against the United States absent a statutory

grant.  Library of Congress v. Shaw, 478 U.S. 310, 106 S. Ct. 2957 (1986).    

In summary, the Hyde Amendment has three signal and heartland provisions: 

(1) The court may award a “reasonable attorney’s fee and other litigation expenses”

(2) to a prevailing criminal defendant ensnared by a prosecution that was “vexatious,

frivolous, or in bad faith,” and (3) the Department of Justice (or other agency of the

United States) must compensate the prevailing defendant from the current agency

appropriation without any “new appropriation” to compensate the agency for the

expenditure.  The Hyde Amendment purports to adopt in these circumstances the

“procedures and limitations” of Section 2412.  No specific subsection, paragraph, or

clause of Section 2412 is designated for incorporation.8  A review of Section 2412

compels the conclusion that not every “procedure and limitation” in Section 2412

applies.  A reasoned review suggests incorporation of only those “procedures and

limitations” that are consistent with the Hyde Amendment, serve to implement the Hyde

Amendment, and provide a mechanism “pursuant to” which the Hyde Amendment’s

objectives are achieved.  The Hyde Amendment’s reference to Section 2412 is a
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convenient mechanism for implementation and not a disguised method of amendment

or dilution of the manifest statutory purpose.  

In other words, a detailed evaluation of the Hyde Amendment confirms precisely

the summary offered in United States v. Atkinson, 247 F.3d 1289, 1291 n.2 (11th Cir.

2001):

We recognize that recovery under the Hyde Amendment is allowed under
only limited circumstances, and is subject to the restrictions and procedures
articulated by the language of the law and its legislative history.  See
Gilbert, 198 F.3d at 1304.  A criminal defendant must show, for example,
that:  (1) his trial had been in progress during fiscal year 1998 or a
subsequent year; (2) his net worth was less than two million dollars; (3) he
had been a “prevailing party” in his criminal case, even though subject to
possible retrial upon remand; (4) that his legal representation was not the
result of court-appointment; and (5) his attorney’s fees and costs are
“reasonable.”

The Hyde Amendment operates based primarily and preeminently on its own terms. 

The Hyde Amendment provides that “such awards,” that is, awards of an attorney’s

“reasonable fee,” “shall be granted pursuant to the procedures and limitations . . .

provided for an award under Section 2412 of Title 28.”  A careful review of Section 2412

reveals that only the thirty-day filing period for a detailed motion for attorney’s fees

contained in Section 2412(d)(1)(B) and the economic restrictions contained in Section

2412(d)(2)(B) engraft onto the Hyde Amendment without undue violence to the

essential elements of the statute.

For these reasons and under the circumstances of the instant case, the Hyde

Amendment requires an award to the Aisenbergs of “a reasonable attorney’s fee and

other litigation expenses,” precisely in accord with the statutory grant.  The Hyde

Amendment is thereby not interpreted to impose on the Aisenbergs a statutory trap or
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trick.  The Hyde Amendment does not award a “reasonable attorney’s fee” and then

reduce the fee by half or two-thirds by mere implication and reference to Section 2412. 

Neither does the Hyde Amendment require the Department of Justice to pay an award

from current appropriations without a chance for a “new appropriation” and then vitiate

that intended economic penalty by incorporating Section 2412 and precluding payments

not funded “in advance” by Section 2412.  Nor does the Hyde Amendment indulge the

other interpretive twists suggested earlier.  The Hyde Amendment grants a “reasonable

attorney’s fee” and “other litigation expenses” and the Aisenbergs are entitled to

precisely that, no more and no less.  

II.

The second distinctive statutory interpretation assumes that the Hyde

Amendment incorporates parts of Section 2412 or, at least, parts of Section 2412(b)

and Section 2412(d), which relate to attorney’s fees.  Section 2412(b) and Section

2412(d) offer two markedly different provisions concerning attorney’s fees in civil cases. 

This difference is expounded authoritatively in Maritime Management, Inc. v. United

States, 242 F.3d 1326 (11th Cir. 2001), in which the United States acted in bad faith in

a contracting episode and in which the court evaluated the attorney’s fee provisions of

Section 2412.

The statutory framework of 28 U.S.C. § 2412 contains two parallel
provisions for awarding attorneys’ fees to plaintiffs that prevail in civil suits
against the United States.  The first of these, § 2412(b), waives sovereign
immunity by making the United States liable for fees “to the same extent
that any other party would be liable under the common law or under the
terms of any statute which specifically provides for such an award.”  28
U.S.C. § 2412(b).  Because of this provision the equitable exceptions to the
American Rule apply to the federal government in the same manner as they
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apply to private litigants.  Panola Land Buying Ass’n v. Clark, 844 F.2d
1506, 1510 (11th Cir. 1988).  This makes an award of fees proper under
common fund and common benefit theories, as well as in situations where
the government has acted “in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for
oppressive reasons” in its conduct of litigation.  Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co.
v. Wilderness Soc’y, 421 U.S. 240, 258-59, 95 S. Ct. 1612, 1622, 44
L. Ed. 2d 141 (1975); see also 10 James Wm. Moore et al., Moore’s
Federal Practice § 54.172[1][b] (3d ed. 1999) (describing equitable
exceptions to American Rule as common fund, common benefit, and bad
faith).  The award of fees under § 2412(b) is discretionary.

. . . .

Also, where § 2412(b) is discretionary, § 2412(d) is mandatory; the
assessment of fees in favor of an eligible prevailing party and against the
government is obligatory under subsection (d) unless “the court finds that
the position of the United States was substantially justified or that special
circumstances make an award unjust.”  28 U.S.C. § 2412(d)(1)(A).  Another
difference in keeping with the discretionary distinction between §§ 2412(b)
and (d) is that under the former subsection, fees are awarded at a rate
determined by the district court, whereas under the latter, awards are
subject to a statutory cap.  See 28 U.S.C. § 2412(d)(2)(A) (listing
presumptive cap of $125 per hour); Cazares v. Barber, 959 F.2d 753, 755
(9th Cir. 1992) (noting award under § 2412(b) is not subject to fee cap of
§ 2412(d)(2)(A)).  

242 F.3d at 1331-32.

A review of Maritime Management and Section 2412 in their relation to the

Aisenbergs’ claim under the Hyde Amendment (assuming incorporation of

Section 2412's attorney’s fee provisions) reveals that the Aisenbergs’ claim arises under

circumstances in which the United States lodged a prosecution that was either

“vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith,” any one of which is within the purview of the bad

faith contemplated by Section 2412(b).  Section 2412(d) simply is the improper section

by which to determine an award of fees consequent upon an act of the United States

that constitutes bad faith within the purview of Section 2412(b).  An act of “bad faith” is
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qualitatively different from a “substantially unjustified” act that is compensated by an

award under Section 2412(d).  As stated in Maritime Management:  

Much of this discussion is made academic by the conclusion infra that the
Government was guilty of bad faith.  Bad faith is generally considered to be
a higher standard than substantial justification, in the context of the EAJA,
see, e.g., Perales v. Casillas, 950 F.2d 1066, 1072 (5th Cir. 1992) (noting
failure of bad faith claim did not mandate conclusion that government’s
position was substantially justified); Barry v. Bowen, 825 F.2d 1324, 1334
(9th Cir. 1987), abrogated on other grounds, 884 F.2d 442 (9th Cir. 1989)
(bad faith standard “higher than the substantial justification standard”);
Gregory C. Sisk, “The Essentials of the Equal Access to Justice Act:  Court
Awards of Attorney’s Fees for Unreasonable Government Conduct (Part
Two)” 56 La. L. Rev. 1, 54 (1995) (noting that where the government acts in
bad faith, this “undermines the ‘substantial justification’ for the government’s
position”), as well as in other areas.  Cf. United States v. Truesdale, 211
F.3d 898, 908 (5th Cir. 2000) (holding that in order to establish bad faith
claim under Hyde Amendment, criminal defendant must show more than
that government’s position was not substantially justified).  Here we simply
conclude that the basis for the district court’s award of fees was § 2412(b)
rather than § 2412(d).

242 F.3d at 1332-33.  See also Newmark v. Principi, 283 F.3d 172, 178 (3d Cir. 2002)

(“Because we find § 2412(b) and § 2412(d) to provide for different types of fee awards,

and because the cap on fees is positioned in § 2412(d) and is to apply only to fees

awarded under that subsection, we conclude that the District Court misconstrued the

cap on fees awarded under § 2412(d) as applying to all fees awarded under § 2412.”). 

Mendenhall v. Nat’l Transp. Safety Bd., 92 F.3d 871, 876 (9th Cir. 1996) (“Mendenhall

requests attorneys’ fees at a reasonable market rate.  Such a rate is appropriate where

there is a showing of bad faith.”); Hyatt v. Shalala, 6 F.3d 250, 257 (4th Cir. 1993)

(“Moreover, it was allowable for the district court to use the market rate for attorneys’

fees, exceeding the § 2412(d)(2)(A) cap, when it found bad faith under § 2412(b).”);

Smith v. Bowen, 867 F.2d 731, 736 (2d Cir. 1989) (“Smith asserts that he is entitled to a
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‘market rate’ . . . rather than the $75-an-hour standard rate set by the EAJA, because

the Government acted in bad faith . . . . While we have discretion to award market-rate

fees under the EAJA upon a finding of bad faith . . . there is no basis for granting a

market-rate award in this case.”); Baker v. Bowen, 839 F.2d 1075, 1080 (5th Cir. 1988)

(“The EAJA also provides a ‘bad faith and common benefit/common fund’ provision . . .

in section 2412(b),” which allows for an award at “market rates.”).  

In an attempt to defeat the potential application of Section 2412(b), the United

States relies in part on a “circularity” argument employed in some of the pertinent

precedent.  See United States v. Knott, 256 F.3d 20, 27 (1st Cir. 2001); United States v.

Ranger Elec. Communications, Inc., 210 F.3d 627, 633 (6th Cir. 2000).  For example,

Ranger states, “Section 2412(b) directs the applicant to look for an independent statute

which gives a remedy of attorneys’ fees and expenses independent of the EAJA.  As

the Hyde Amendment incorporates the EAJA, it would be circular to go back to the

Hyde Amendment to treat it as an independent statute giving the right to attorneys’ fees.

. . .”  210 F.3d at 633.  Inexplicably, this argument fails entirely to recognize that Section

2412(b) permits an attorney’s fee award pursuant to either (1) a “statute” or (2) the

“common law.”  28 U.S.C. § 2412(b).  Of course, the Supreme Court identifies in the

common law the potential for reimbursement of an attorney’s fee in circumstances

involving governmental action taken in “bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for

oppressive reasons” in litigation.  Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co. v. Wilderness Soc’y, 421

U.S. 240, 258-59, 95 S. Ct. 1612, 1622 (1975).  Perhaps the claimants’ arguments

(e.g., a reliance on the statutory rather than common law grant contained in Section
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2412(b)) compelled the conclusions reached in Ranger and Knott.  However, this case

presents no similar limitation.  The Aisenbergs explicitly and consistently invoke the

“common law” avenue of reimbursement afforded by Section 2412(b).  The plain

language of Section 2412(b) permits reimbursement of an attorney’s fee in accordance

with the common law and without respect to a statutory grant, and the United States’

iteration of the “circularity” argument accordingly fails.  

An act of bad faith by the United States, which includes an act that is undertaken

“in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons” within the meaning of

that phrase as utilized in Alyeska Pipeline triggers the power of the district court to

award a reasonable fee under Section 2412(b) without regard to the $125 per hour cap

prescribed in Section 2412(d).  Stated differently, without regard to the extent of any

incorporation by the Hyde Amendment of the “procedures and limitations” of

Section 2412, Section 2412 itself imposes no $125 per hour cap on attorney’s fees

awarded in response to acts that are perpetrated “in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or

for oppressive reasons,” as confirmed in Alyeska Pipeline.  The facts of the Aisenberg

prosecution offer no occasion for concern with provisions aimed at a “substantially

unjustified” civil matter.  The facts of the Aisenberg case present a criminal matter that

was undertaken in the United States and that was “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith.” 

Section 2412 offers no impediment to the recovery of a reasonable attorney’s fee. 

III.

Admittedly, a third (and, I think, less compelling) interpretation of the Hyde

Amendment is available.  That interpretation results in the superimposition on the Hyde



9 “Given the plain meaning of the statutory language, we could bypass any consideration of
legislative history.”  United States v. Gilbert, 198 F.3d 1293, 1299 (11th Cir. 1999). 

10  “So, in response to concern that the initial version of the Hyde Amendment swept too broadly,
the scope of the provision was curtailed significantly.”  Gilbert, 198 F.3d at 1302.  The original version of
the Hyde Amendment introduced on September 24, 1997, provided:

During fiscal year 1997 and in any fiscal year thereafter, the court, in any criminal case
pending on or after the date of the enactment of this Act, shall award, and the United
States shall pay, to a prevailing party, other than the United States, a reasonable
attorney’s fee and other litigation costs, unless the court finds that the position of the
United States was substantially justified or that other special circumstances make an
award unjust.  Such awards shall be granted pursuant to the procedures and limitations
provided for an award under section 2421 of title 28, United States Code.  Fees and other

(continued...)
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Amendment of the $125 per hour cap intended only for awards in civil cases under

Section 2412(d).  This interpretation assumes that Congress elected in the Hyde

Amendment to award, with one hand, a “reasonable attorney’s fee” and then, with the

other hand, largely to retract that award in Section 2412.  Proponents of this view likely

will highlight the historical point that during the early legislative discussions of the

proposed statute, Representative Henry Hyde alluded to “$125 an hour,” which he

described as a “modest amount.”  143 Cong. Rec. H7786-04, H7791 (Sept. 24, 1997)

(statement of Rep. Hyde).  Representative Hyde’s comment arguably provides some

support for a $125 cap on the hourly rate for attorney’s fees available under the Hyde

Amendment.  

Of course, reliance on meager legislative history to interpret the Hyde

Amendment is not only unnecessary, as noted in Gilbert,9 but also unenlightening. 

Representative Hyde’s “$125 an hour” comment (if relevant at all) occurred during

introduction of the initial House version of the proposed legislation, which the

Conference Committee materially amended before enactment.10  



10(...continued)
expenses awarded under this provision to a party shall be paid by the agency over which
the party prevails from any funds made available to the agency by appropriation.  No new
appropriations shall be made as a result of this provision.

The final version was enacted on November 26, 1997, a month later.  The statutory revisions are
illustrated by underscores (additions) and strike-throughs (deletions) as follows:

During fiscal year 19978 and in any fiscal year thereafter, the court, in any criminal case
(other than a case in which the defendant is represented by assigned counsel paid for by
the public) pending on or after the date of the enactment of this Act [Nov. 26, 1997], may
shallaward, and the United States shall pay, to a prevailing party, other than the United
States, a reasonable attorney’s fee and other litigation costsexpenses, unlesswhere the
court finds that the position of the United States was substantially justifiedvexatious,
frivolous, or in bad faith, unless the court finds that other special circumstances make
such an award unjust.  Such awards shall be granted pursuant to the procedures and
limitations (but not the burden of proof) provided for an award under section 24212412 of
title 28, United States Code.  To determine whether or not to award fees and costs under
this section, the court, for good cause shown, may receive evidence ex parte and in
camera (which shall include the submission of classified evidence or evidence that reveals
or might reveal the identity of an informant or undercover agent or matters occurring
before a grand jury) and evidence or testimony so received shall be kept under seal.  Fees
and other expenses awarded under this provision to a party shall be paid by the agency
over which the party prevails from any funds made available to the agency by
appropriation.  No new appropriations shall be made as a result of this provision. 

- 52 -

The legislation introduced into the House at the time Representative Hyde

referred to the “modest amount” of “$125 an hour” contemplated a mandatory award to

a qualifying defendant “unless the court finds that the position of the United States was

substantially justified or that other special circumstances made an award unjust.” 

143 Cong. Rec. H7786-04, H7791 (Sept. 24 1997) (statement of Rep. Hyde).  Further,

under Representative Hyde’s initial conception of the legislation, the United States bore

the burden of proof.  As the congressman said, “The Government must prove

substantial justification or you get attorney’s fees.”  143 Cong. Rec. H7786-04, H7791

(Sept. 24, 1997) (statement of Rep. Hyde). 

The substantially different version of the Hyde Amendment enacted following the

Conference Committee neither contains the “substantial justification” standard nor



11 This conclusion implies no judgment about Representative Hyde’s motive or meaning during
the September 24, 1997, debate.  Representative Hyde, a distinguished legislator and lawyer of long
experience and well-documented accomplishment (who undoubtedly and demonstrably understands the
complexity and nuance of the legislative process), properly and forcefully preserved for the public record
his position respecting the proposed legislation.  I conclude merely that under the circumstances the
congressman’s expressed position on the proposed legislation (and particularly the “$125 an hour”
comment) bears minimally upon the meaning of the revised statute ultimately enacted into law.  

(continued...)
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assigns to the United States the burden of proof (as advocated by Representative

Hyde).  Instead, the Hyde Amendment permits (but does not require) an award of a

“reasonable attorney’s fee and other litigation expenses” only when the United States’

position is “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith,” and assigns the burden of proof to the

defendant seeking the award.  Gilbert aptly notes the “watered down” scope of the

enacted Hyde Amendment, which places a “daunting obstacle” before a defendant

seeking an award of attorney’s fees and litigation expenses.  198 F.3d at 1301-02.

Compared to the class of cases contemplated by the proposed legislation initially

discussed by Representative Hyde before revision by the Conference Committee, the

enacted version of the Hyde Amendment dramatically collapses the class of cases in

which a defendant recovers.  See United States v. Gardner, 23 F. Supp. 2d 1283, 1288

n.4 (N.D. Okla. 1998) (“[T]he original amendment proposed by Representative Hyde

was much broader than the version eventually enacted. . . . “).  The Hyde Amendment

(as enacted) holds no promise for the defendant whose unexceptional acquittal raises

only a routine residual doubt about the prosecution.  On the contrary, the Hyde

Amendment (as enacted) applies only to those egregious cases in which a defendant

proves that the United States’ position falls into the narrow class of “vexatious, frivolous,

or bad faith” prosecutions.11  



11(...continued)
Parsing legislative history and identifying isolated episodes in an effort to determine statutory

meaning constitutes (under the best circumstances) a difficult and often dicey endeavor.  See, e.g.,
Thompson v. Thompson, 484 U.S. 174, 191-92, 108 S. Ct. 513, 522 (1988) (Scalia, J., concurring)
(“Committee reports, floor speeches, and even colloquies between Congressmen . . . are frail substitutes
for bicameral vote upon the text of a law and its presentment to the President. . . .  It is at best dangerous
to assume that all the necessary participants in the law-enactment process are acting upon the same
unexpressed assumptions.”).  A statement by a bill’s sponsor is entitled to limited influence; much less
influence than, for example, a Committee Report.  See Thornburg v. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30, 43 n.7, 106
S. Ct. 2752, 2762 n.7 (1986) (“We have repeatedly recognized that the authoritative source for legislative
intent lies in the Committee Report on the bill.”); Weinberger v. Rossi, 456 U.S. 25, 35 n.15 (1982) (“The
contemporaneous remarks of a sponsor of legislation are certainly not controlling in analyzing legislative
history.”); 2A Norman J. Singer, Statutes and Statutory Construction (“Sutherland Statutory Construction”)
§ 48:12 (6th ed. 2000) (“A lone legislator is not competent to testify about the intent of a statute, even if he
or she authored it.  There is not necessarily a correlation between the understanding and intent of a
draftsman and the understanding and intent of the legislature.”).  No Committee Report was prepared
regarding the Hyde Amendment and the Conference Report consists of a single paragraph that neither
defines nor restricts the meaning of “reasonable fee.”  H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 405, 105th Cong., 1st Sess.
1997, 1997 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2941, Nov. 13, 1997; see also Gilbert, 198 F.3d at 1299 (“The legislative history
is far from extensive . . . .”); Lawrence Judson Welle, Note, Power, Policy, and the Hyde Amendment: 
Ensuring Sound Judicial Interpretation of the Criminal Attorneys’ Fees Law, 41 Wm. & Mary L. Rev. 333,
363 n.150 (1999) (analyzing the limited scope and value of the Hyde Amendment’s legislative history).
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Even weighing more heavily the early comments of Representative Hyde

concerning the appropriate compensation for a “typical” case in which the United States

cannot prove “substantial justification” for its litigation, the final embodiment of the Hyde

Amendment, governing only cases in which the criminal defendant can prove that a

prosecution was “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith,” must be interpreted based upon

its plain language, which awards a “reasonable attorney’s fee.”  The legislative history,

including the comments of Representative Hyde, offers no persuasive evidence that the

Congress in amending Representative Hyde’s initial proposal and enacting the

amended proposal, chose to award, for example, civil litigants as specified under

Section 2412(b), a “reasonable attorney’s fee” for prevailing in a bad faith civil case but

chose to award only a severely limited fee to prevailing criminal defendants whose lives

and liberty are threatened by the United States in a prosecution that is “vexatious,
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frivolous, or in bad faith.”  Congress surely possesses the power to achieve this result,

but the court should not interpret the Hyde Amendment to achieve this awkward result

unless the language of the statute involved fairly compels that result, which it does not. 

See United States v. Holland, 34 F. Supp. 2d 346, 357 (E.D. Va. 1999) (“Had Congress

intended to limit an applicant’s rights to those granted by section 2412(d), it could have

said so.  There is no reason to believe the Hyde Amendment intended to confer lesser

rights upon criminal defendants than the EAJA conferred upon civil litigants.”).  

Notwithstanding the force of this analysis, the fact remains that an alternative

reading of the Hyde Amendment and Section 2412 arguably results in the incorporation

into the Hyde Amendment of Section 2412(d)(2)(A)’s limitation of $125 per hour on the

attorney’s fee recoverable under the Hyde Amendment “unless the court determines

that an increase in the cost of living or a special factor, such as the limited availability of

qualified attorneys for the proceedings involved, justifies a higher fee.”  No marked

increase in the cost of living has occurred since 1998.  However, other “special factors”

are present in this case to “justify a higher fee.”  

First, events that occurred after the disappearance of Sabrina and that resulted in

the eventual dismissal of the indictment against her parents have caused the United

States to admit liability to the Aisenbergs under the Hyde Amendment.  The United

States’ concession is entirely unprecedented in Hyde Amendment cases, although

entirely justified (compelled, actually) by the history of this case.  The United States,

acting from the most informed vantage of any participant in this controversy, including

the Court, evaluated the events that began with Sabrina’s disappearance and elected
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not to defend the Aisenbergs’ claim under the Hyde Amendment, except as to the

amount owed.  From all that appears, the United States’ decision was precisely correct

and farsighted (and ducked a tidal wave of tense discovery sought by the Aisenbergs

at, for example, Doc. 432).  This concession of liability by the United States stands

before a contrasting backdrop of the Department of Justice’s unwavering opposition to

the enactment of the Hyde Amendment from its moment of introduction by

Representative Hyde.  Similarly, the Department of Justice uniformly and vigorously has

contested Hyde Amendment claims (an observation by which no criticism or other

judgment is intended, except to note that the Department of Justice is understandably

inhospitable to Hyde Amendment claims and quite able and willing--and properly so--to

contest them).  After prolonged reflection, the Department of Justice determined to

concede the Aisenbergs’ claim.  That concession, although a sound and commendable

judgment (that results in no change in the ultimate outcome of this matter), suggests

irresistibly both the existence of an extraordinary and singular set of events and

circumstances, i.e., “special factors” within the language of Section 2412(d)(2)(A), and

the unprecedented and unmistakable nature of the error that occurred.

Second, Sabrina’s disappearance was reported by her parents on November 24,

1997.  Law enforcement installed furtive listening devices throughout the Aisenbergs’

home on December 13, 1997, and the surveillance persisted until March 2, 1998.  The

Aisenbergs were indicted on September 9, 1999, about twenty-one months after

Sabrina’s reported disappearance and about eighteen months after the conclusion of

the electronic surveillance.  The results of the interception effort were well known by the
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prosecutors for many months before the Aisenbergs’ indictment.  The United States

knew well the contents of the recordings and the manifest deficiencies that interfered

with the effective deployment of these recordings as evidence (assuming that the

recordings contained anything of prosecutorial value to the United States).  Of course,

the State of Florida, which sought permission to intercept the Aisenbergs’ conversation

and which installed the interception devices and initially marshaled the results, failed to

initiate criminal proceedings based on the contents of the recordings, and the United

States knew that the State of Florida, which typically prosecutes homicides of every

sort, had failed to find in these recordings enough (if any) evidence to support a criminal

prosecution.  Notwithstanding the ample time available to the United States to evaluate

the evidence, coupled with the United States’ knowledge of the State of Florida’s

inaction, the Aisenbergs were subjected to a prosecution that was “vexatious, frivolous,

or in bad faith.”  This is not an example of a prosecution that faltered after the discovery

of surprising and exculpatory evidence.  This is not an example of a prosecution

stymied by the death or disappearance of an important witness or an unexpected

reversal in the credibility or testimony of a key witness.  This is not an example of a

prosecution that falters after a confession by, or the discovery of, another suspect.  This

is not an example of a prosecution frustrated by some change in the law that adversely

and surprisingly affects the calculus of conviction.  What sort of prosecution was this?

From the first glance by an informed observer, the indictment poses a conundrum

that persists.  The indictment purports to recite statements, exact quotations, from the

defendants that (if true) powerfully implicate the defendants in the disappearance and
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possible death of their daughter Sabrina.  This “evidence” was available for many

months to both the State of Florida and the United States.  Yet, the State of Florida

brought no criminal charge and the United States charged only violations of 18 U.S.C.

§§ 1001 and 1002, charges essentially alleging only deception and obstruction of law

enforcement.  Although law enforcement claimed as early as December 12, 1997, that

“this investigation is not a kidnapping investigation but a homicide or sale of a minor

child” (Doc. 336 at 46), no charge of either homicide or the sale of a child (or any similar

charge) was brought by either the State of Florida or the United States.  I share the

undeniable observation of the magistrate judge in his report and recommendation after

the Franks hearing that “[I]f the Defendants’ intercepted conversations proved they had

done these things to their child, they would not be in the dock of a federal court charged

with false statements violations.”  

More importantly, if law enforcement or the pertinent prosecutors ever believed

that the recordings established the matters alleged in the indictment, especially those

damning quotations attributed in the indictment to Steven and Marlene Aisenberg and

allegedly arising from the surveillance recordings, would the Aisenbergs have been

charged in federal court with obstruction rather than in state court with a homicide? 

Stated differently, if a prosecutor believes the evidence includes a tape recording of the

defendants, in which one says to the other, for example, “The baby’s dead and buried! 

It was found dead because you did it!  The baby is dead no matter what you say--you

just did it,” does the prosecutor charge only under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1001 and 1002?  Of

course not.  This conundrum is writ large on the face of the indictment.  
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As was apparent throughout the pendency of the Aisenberg prosecution, the

United States adopts no firm position as to the events that resulted in the

disappearance of Sabrina.  Neither inquiry in court nor review of the voluminous papers

reveals a commitment by the United States to either the theory that Sabrina was sold or

that she was killed, whether accidentally, negligently, or intentionally.  Manifestly, the

United States neither knows the truth of, nor now can prove, any combination of those

possibilities.  The only rational conclusion available is that the United States does not

know what happened to Sabrina but acquired a belief (perhaps based on the statistical

evidence discussed by the magistrate judge in his report and recommendation after the

Franks hearing:  Doc. 336 at 16-18) that one or the other or both of the Aisenbergs

know what happened to Sabrina and are criminally responsible.  However, mere belief

(if any) is not enough.

Did the United States honestly believe the recordings contained enough evidence

to convict the Aisenbergs (of anything)?  My review causes me to doubt that anyone

believes the recordings implicate the Aisenbergs decisively.  From the language of the

indictment, from the unusual public flourish with which the indictment was announced

and pursued, from the disparity between the horror of Sabrina’s disappearance and the

modest charges brought against the Aisenbergs, from the United States’ strange

resistance to airing the recordings (even with the defendants’ consent) and to

conducting an open audibility hearing, from the United States’ unaccountable choice of

Anthony Pellicano (now federally indicted on weapons charges) as an “expert” (a

dubious claim, indeed) rather than the FBI’s criminal laboratory (or some other



12 The Oxford English Dictionary defines “vex”:

1. trans.  To trouble, afflict, or harass (a person, etc.) by aggression, encroachment, or
other interference with peace and quiet.  2. Of diseases, etc.:  to afflict or distress
physically; to affect with pain or suffering.  Now poet.  3. To afflict with mental agitation or
trouble; to make anxious or depressed; to distress deeply or seriously; to worry with
anxiety or thought.  4. To affect with a feeling of dissatisfaction, annoyance, or irritation; to
cause (one) to fret, grieve, or feel unhappy.  5. intr.  To be distressed in mind; to feel
unhappy or dissatisfied; to fret or grieve.  Also cont. at.  6. trans.  To disturb by causing
physical movement, commotion, or alteration; to agitate, toss about, work, belabour or
tear up, etc.  7. To subject (a matter) to prolonged or severe examination or discussion; to
debate at excessive length.

The Oxford English Dictionary, Vol. XII, 167 (1970).  Included in the definition of “vexatious” in the Oxford
English Dictionary is this definition and these illustrative historical examples:

c. spec.  Of legal actions:  Instituted without sufficient grounds for the purpose of causing
(continued...)
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reputable authority) for consultancy services, from the United States’ immediate attempt

to disqualify the Aisenbergs’ chosen counsel and to force separate representation

(which often is defensible on neutral principles but which is richly suspect in this

instance), and from an imposing list of other circumstances, the obvious conclusion is

that the United States brought this indictment based not on a careful evaluation of the

weight of the evidence but in an effort to “flip” one of these defendants (probably

Marlene) and secure testimony against the other (probably Steven, if you assume

someone believed what the indictment alleges).  In other words, from all that appears,

the Aisenberg prosecution was precisely calculated to oppress and threaten one

defendant (probably Marlene) in order to procure testimony against the other (probably

Steven) in a forthcoming prosecution--probably in state court for some act of homicide. 

In short, the Aisenberg prosecution was (at least) “vexatious” within the meaning of the

Hyde Amendment.  (Strictly adhering to the definitions elaborated in Gilbert, some might

prefer either “frivolous” or “in bad faith.”  The distinction, if any, is a nice one.)12  



12(...continued)
trouble or annoyance to the defendant.

1677 YARRANTON Eng. Improv. 9  It is a Sin, that a Gentleman . . . should be the
occasion of ruining so many Families . . . by putting them to such vexatious Suits for their
Moneys lent.  1696-7 Act 8-9 William III, c. 11 Diverse evil disposed Persons are
incouraged to bring frivolous and vexatious Actions.  1746 FRANCIS tr. Hor., Sat. I. vi. 6 
Persius had wealth by foreign traffic gain’d, And a vexatious suit with King maintain’d. 
1856 FROUDE Hist. Eng. (1858) II. vi. 72  Their courts were unceasingly occupied with
vexatious suits.

The Oxford English Dictionary, Vol. XII, 168 (1970).
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“Vexatious” seems precisely right as a description of the Aisenberg prosecution

because of the element of oppression, calculated in this instance to compel one

Aisenberg to testify against the other, coupled with the lack of evidence to support the

indictment, although “bad faith” (or even “frivolous”) might serve as well.  Surely, in the

sense of governmental responsibility, the instigation and maintenance of a “vexatious”

prosecution is an act of “bad faith,” i.e., an act in derogation and willful disregard of the

duties and responsibilities of the government to act with principled judgment and with

fealty to the law and, consequently, to preserve the public’s trust.

Since, at least, the time of Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 108 S.Ct. 2541

(1988), decisional precedent dealing with the “special factor” provision of Section

2412(d)(2)(A) has focused primarily on some attribute of the lawyers involved.  For

example, a lawyer’s knowledge of foreign law or an arcane foreign language sometimes

constitutes a “special factor.”  Presumably, this interpretation arises because the “such

as” phrase in Section 2412(d)(2)(A) provides the “limited availability of qualified

attorneys” as the statutory example of a “special factor” justifying higher hourly

compensation.  But, “such as” is a phrase that introduces some item that is comparable
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in some otherwise unspecified manner to the items for which the “such as” example

serves as an illustrative shorthand.  If nothing else, the phrase “such as” reveals

unmistakably that other examples exist.  Accordingly, the phrase “such as” creates an

interpretive issue:  Which attribute of the “such as” example is the attribute that the

stated example shares with the unstated examples of the intended group, i.e., the group

of which the stated example is indicative?  Probably, the boundary of the intended

group of unstated “special factors” is too elusive to allow for a precise definition (hence

the congressional selection of the generic and descriptive phrase “special factor”).  One

conclusion seems safe:  Neither common sense nor the statute offers any reason that

“special factor” must describe only the claimant’s lawyer rather than the behavior of the

government or the consequence to the claimant. 

Whatever the precise definition of “special factor,” an episode that results in a

judicial determination that the government instigated and maintained a criminal

prosecution that was “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith” is an episode that presents a

“special factor” within the meaning of Section 2412(d)(2)(A).  The existence, for

example, of governmental “bad faith” is manifestly a “special factor” that lifts a particular

episode out of the “substantially unjustified” category of cases in which Section 2412(d)

awards only a reduced compensation.  See, e.g., Moulton v. United States, 195 B.R.

954, 959 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 1996) (“[B]ased on the utterly inexcusable and egregious

conduct of the IRS, there is a recognizable ‘special factor’ in this instance.”).  A review

of the episodes that result in a reduced award of attorney’s fees under Section

2412(d)(2)(A) reveals that those cases are not qualitatively comparable to the



13 An array of EAJA cases present nothing comparable to a “bad faith” prosecution that threatens,
for example, life imprisonment.  See, e.g.,  Maritime Mgmt., Inc. v. United States, 242 F.3d 1326 (11th Cir.
2001) (a government contract procurement dispute); United States v. Jones, 125 F.3d 1418 (11th Cir.
1997) (a Voting Rights Act action); Andrews v. United States, 122 F.3d 1367 (11th Cir. 1997) (a CERCLA
action); Jackson v. Chater, 99 F.3d 1086 (11th Cir. 1996) (social security disability benefits); Jove Eng’g,
Inc. v. IRS, 92 F.3d 1539 (11th Cir. 1996) (civil contempt); Marine Coatings of Ala. v. United States, 71
F.3d 1558 (11th Cir. 1996) (maritime lien dispute); United States v. Douglas, 55 F.3d 584 (11th Cir. 1995)
(forfeiture); Jean v. Nelson, 863 F.2d 759 (11th Cir. 1988) (challenging INS policies); Chao v. First Class
Coach Co., 219 F. Supp. 2d 1243 (M.D. Fla. 2002) (failure to pay overtime wages); Taylor Group, Inc. v.
Johnson, 915 F. Supp. 295 (M.D. Ala. 1995) (government contract procurement dispute).  
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governmental action that results in a criminal prosecution that is “vexatious, frivolous, or

in bad faith.”13  (A bad faith prosecution is not merely “substantially unjustified.”  A bad

faith prosecution is not a mere error or misjudgment.  As explained earlier in this order,

a bad faith prosecution is qualitatively distinct from a “substantially unjustified” civil

claim.)   The elements necessary to qualify in the rare instance that invokes the

remedies of the Hyde Amendment are not within the purview of those elements

necessary to invoke the remedies of Section 2412(d)(2)(A).  The maintenance of a

prosecution that is “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith” is a “special factor” within the

meaning of Section 2412(d)(2)(A) because nothing in that section contemplates and

accounts for such an incident.

To summarize, the United States seeks to impose upon the Aisenbergs’ claim

under the Hyde Amendment the $125 per hour cap contained in Section 2412(d) of

Title 28.  That attempt is mistaken as a result of any one of the three statutory

constructions explained in this order.  Each construction results in an award to the

Aisenbergs of a “reasonable attorney’s fee and other litigation expenses.”  It remains

only to compute that award.



14 Of course, “‘[t]here is no precise rule or formula’ for determining attorney’s fees.”  Evans v. Jeff,
475 U.S. 717, 735, 106 S. Ct. 1531, 1542 (1986) (quoting Hensley).  One commentator observes:

Court determination of a reasonable fee authorized by statute necessarily requires a
judgmental assessment not capable of mathematic precision.  The court must analyze the
individual circumstances involved, the level of success achieved as reflected in monetary
and nonmonetary results obtained, and the objectives of the applicable fee award statute
or equitable principle to award a sufficient fee to create an economic incentive for lawyers
to represent persons who have been victimized by statutory violations.

1 Alba Conte, Attorney Fee Awards § 1.06 (2d ed. 1993).  Hensley directs attention to whether the
prevailing party “achieve[s] a level of success that makes the hours reasonably expended a satisfactory
basis for making a fee award[]” and provides that “[w]here a [litigant] has obtained excellent results, his
attorney should recover a fully compensatory fee.  Normally this will encompass all hours reasonably
expended on the litigation, and indeed in some cases of exceptional success an enhanced award may be
justified.”  461 U.S. at 434-35.    
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A REASONABLE FEE

“The most useful starting point for determining the amount of a reasonable fee is

the number of hours reasonably expended on the litigation multiplied by a reasonable

hourly rate.”  Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 433, 103 S. Ct. 1933, 1939 (1983).14 

This so-called “lodestar” approach represents the “centerpiece of attorney’s fee

awards.”  Blanchard v. Bergeron, 489 U.S. 87, 94, 109 S. Ct. 939, 945  (1989).  

I.

The first step in the lodestar analysis compels a determination of “hours

reasonably expended on the litigation.”  Of course, hours that are excessive, redundant,

unnecessary, or unproductive must be reduced or eliminated, as must hours spent on

unsuccessful or otherwise non-compensable claims, “unless those claims were

interrelated or connected with the compensable claims . . . .”  1 Robert L. Rossi,

Attorneys’ Fees § 10:4 (3d ed. 2001) (summarizing pertinent cases); see also 2 Mary

Francis Derfner & Arthur D. Wolfe, Court Awarded Attorney Fees § 16.02 (1998)



15 Among the issues rendered moot by the United States’ concession with respect to application
of the Hyde Amendment are (1) whether the United States retains financial liability for pre-indictment acts
of agencies that participated in the investigation of Sabrina’s disappearance and (2) whether the United
States must reimburse the Aisenbergs for attorney’s fees and other litigation expenses incurred before the
indictment (or before some other defining moment in the case).  In other words, when did Hyde
Amendment liability attach (and by which state or federal agency’s acts or omissions), and must the
United States reimburse the Aisenbergs for their attorneys’ work before that moment?  At the Hyde
Amendment hearing, the United States candidly recognized that pertinent authority attributes the pre-
indictment misconduct of an investigating agency to the United States for purposes of applying the Hyde
Amendment, so that (for example) the United States retains responsibility for the acts and omissions of the
investigating agencies before the Aisenbergs’ indictment.  See, e.g., United States v. Knott, 106 F. Supp.
2d 174, 179-80 (D. Mass. 2000), rev’d on other grounds, 256 F.3d 20 (1st Cir. 2001); United States v.
Gardner, 23 F. Supp. 2d 1283, 1294-95 (N.D. Okla. 1998).  The United States stated at the hearing that
the United States’ concession with respect to the Hyde Amendment’s application means that the United
States has “waived” this issue.  Tr. of Hr’g, Oct. 23, 2002, (Doc. 475) at 31.  Similarly, the United States
advances no general objection to reimbursement of the Aisenbergs’ attorney’s fees and other litigation
expenses incurred during the pre-indictment investigation of Sabrina’s disappearance.  The United States
has “waived” this issue.        

16 The charts reprinted in this Order were submitted by the Aisenbergs on October 30, 2002, and
purport to include a “full listing of all hours of all attorneys through October 25, 2002.”  See Aisenbergs’
“Third Set of Supplemental Hours . . .” (Doc. 470) at 2 n.1.  Attached to the same submission are itemized
billing records describing individually by day the hours expended and work performed by each attorney or
investigator during the course of the litigation.  On January 3, 2003, the Aisenbergs filed a “Defendants’
Response to Government’s Objections to Defendants’ Counsels’ Submission of their Final Bill . . .” (Doc.
483) that includes additional time for March 26, 2001, to December 31, 2001 (totaling approximately 391
hours billed by various Cohen firm personnel), which time is not included in the charts or billing records
filed by the Aisenbergs on October 30, 2002, notwithstanding the Aisenbergs’ assertion in the October 30,
2002, filing about a “full listing of all hours.”  Confusion caused by inconsistencies or omissions in billing
records is construed against the Aisenbergs.  Accordingly, for purposes of this order, the Court evaluates
the Aisenbergs’ claim for 11,251.70 hours as presented in the reprinted charts.  All other hours are
excluded. 
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(summarizing pertinent cases).  In short, “[h]ours that are not properly billed to one’s

client also are not properly billed to one’s adversary pursuant to statutory authority.” 

Copeland v. Marshall, 641 F.2d 880, 891 (D.C. Cir. 1980), cited with approval in

Hensley, 461 U.S. at 434.15

The Aisenbergs seek reimbursement for 11,251.70 hours of attorney and

investigator time billed between November, 1997, and October, 2002, by Cohen,

Jayson & Foster, P.A. (the “Cohen firm”) as follows:16



17 Kevin Kalwary is an investigator employed by the Cohen firm.  The remaining listed persons are
attorneys with the Cohen firm.  The United States advances no general objection to inclusion of Kalwary’s
billable time in the class of fees reimbursable under the Hyde Amendment, although the United States
objects to the inclusion of certain time billed by Kalwary respecting “media” matters.  See Missouri v.
Jenkins, 491 U.S. 274, 285, 109 S. Ct. 2463, 2470 (1989) (observing that a “reasonable fee” must take
into account work performed not only by an attorney but also by all others whose labor contributes to the
work product and for which an attorney bills the client).

- 66 -

1997

ATTORNEY HOURS HOURLY RATE DOLLAR AMOUNT

Cohen, Barry A. 99.50 400 39,800.00

Cohen, Harry 0.00 0 0.00

Kalwary, Kevin 17 102.50 100 10,250.00

Gold, Michael 31.75 150 4,762.50

Wright, Mark 62.00 175 10,850.00

Cullen, Patricia 0.00 0 0.00

Bunz, Rick 0.00 0 0.00

Romine, Stephen 0.00 0 0.00

Foster, Todd 11.00 250 2,750.00

Sheehan, Tracy 66.10 200 13,220.00

Darken, Kevin 0.00 0 0.00

 YEARLY TOTAL 372.85 81,632.50

1998

ATTORNEY HOURS HOURLY RATE DOLLAR AMOUNT

Cohen, Barry A. 391.75 400 156,700.00

Cohen, Harry 0.00 0 0.00

Kalwary, Kevin 406.30 100 40,630.00

Gold, Michael 104.00 150 15,600.00

Wright, Mark 0.00 0 0.00

Cullen, Patricia 2.00 200 400.00

Bunz, Rick 7.60 150 1,140.00

Romine, Stephen 0.00 0 0.00
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Foster, Todd 49.25 250 12,312.50

Sheehan, Tracy 96.80 200 19,360.00

Darken, Kevin 0.00 0 0.00

 YEARLY TOTAL 1,057.70 246,142.50

1999

ATTORNEY HOURS HOURLY RATE DOLLAR AMOUNT

Cohen, Barry A. 187.25 400 74,900.00

Cohen, Harry 0.00 0 0.00

Kalwary, Kevin 706.75 100 70,675.00

Gold, Michael 498.75 224.4361 111,937.50

Wright, Mark 0.00 0 0.00

Cullen, Patricia 33.50 200 6,700.00

Bunz, Rick 310.50 173.913 54,000.00

Romine, Stephen 37.00 250 9,250.00

Foster, Todd 284.50 286.3796 81,475.00

Sheehan, Tracy 0.00 0 0.00

Darken, Kevin 0.00 0 0.00

 YEARLY TOTAL 2,058.25 408,937.50

2000

ATTORNEY HOURS HOURLY RATE DOLLAR AMOUNT

Cohen, Barry A. 459.00 400 183,600.00

Cohen, Harry 1,356.50 150 203,475.00

Kalwary, Kevin 1,177.25 100 117,725.00

Gold, Michael 1,454.25 250 363,562.50

Wright, Mark 0.00 0 0.00

Cullen, Patricia 0.00 0 0.00

Bunz, Rick 0.00 0 0.00

Romine, Stephen 293.00 250 73,250.00

Foster, Todd 985.75 300 295,725.00
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Sheehan, Tracy 0.00 0 0.00

Darken, Kevin 0.00 0 0.00

 YEARLY TOTAL 5,725.75 1,237,337.50

2001

ATTORNEY HOURS HOURLY RATE DOLLAR AMOUNT

Cohen, Barry A. 77.75 400 31,100.00

Cohen, Harry 319.25 150 47,887.50

Kalwary, Kevin 207.50 100 20,750.00

Gold, Michael 119.50 250 29,875.00

Wright, Mark 0.00 0 0.00

Cullen, Patricia 0.00 0 0.00

Bunz, Rick 0.00 0 0.00

Romine, Stephen 5.00 250 1,250.00

Foster, Todd 142.25 300 42,675.00

Sheehan, Tracy 0.00 0 0.00

Darken, Kevin 0.00 0 0.00

 YEARLY TOTAL 871.25 173,537.50

2002

ATTORNEY HOURS HOURLY RATE DOLLAR AMOUNT

Cohen, Barry A. 64.50 400 25,800.00

Cohen, Harry 82.00 150 12,300.00

Kalwary, Kevin 244.75 100 24,475.00

Gold, Michael 298.00 250 74,500.00

Wright, Mark 0.00 0 0.00

Cullen, Patricia 0.00 0 0.00

Bunz, Rick 0.00 0 0.00

Romine, Stephen 22.00 250 5,500.00

Foster, Todd 261.25 300 78,375.00

Sheehan, Tracy 0.00 0 0.00



18 The Aisenbergs’ initial fee application accounted for the work of all the Aisenbergs’ attorneys
and investigators except Barry A. Cohen (a founder and principal of the Cohen firm), whose hours were,
according to the application, “donated.”  On July 3, 2002, the Aisenbergs filed a supplemental application
(Doc. 424), which included Cohen’s hours from the inception of the representation, notwithstanding the

(continued...)
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Darken, Kevin 193.40 250 48,350.00

 YEARLY TOTAL 1,165.90 269,300.00

 CUMULATIVE TOTAL 11,251.70 2,416,887.50

The annual billings listed above are summarized in the following chart:

1997-2002 CUMULATIVE TOTALS

ATTORNEY HOURS HOURLY RATE DOLLAR AMOUNT

Cohen, Barry A. 1,279.75 400 511,900.00

Cohen, Harry 1,757.75 150 263,662.50

Kalwary, Kevin 2,845.05 100 284,505.00

Gold, Michael 2,506.25 239.4963 600,237.50

Wright, Mark 62.00 175 10,850.00

Cullen, Patricia 35.50 200 7,100.00

Bunz, Rick 318.10 173.3417 55,140.00

Romine, Stephen 357.00 250 89,250.00

Foster, Todd 1,734.00 296.028 513,312.50

Sheehan, Tracy 162.90 200 32,580.00

Darken, Kevin 193.40 250 48,350.00

 TOTAL 11,251.70 2,416,887.50

The United States concedes that the number of attorney and investigator hours

set forth in the Aisenbergs’ initial fee application (totaling 8,906.05 hours) represents an

accurate report of time expended from the inception of the Cohen firm’s representation

of the Aisenbergs to March 26, 2001, the date on which the Aisenbergs filed the initial

fee application.  (Doc. 367)18  The United States also concedes the Aisenbergs’



18(...continued)
initial “donation” of Cohen’s time.  The United States objects to reimbursement of fees generated by
Cohen before July 3, 2002.  After careful consideration of this somewhat unusual circumstance, I conclude
that neither the Hyde Amendment nor the particulars of this case preclude either supplementation of the
fee application or reimbursement of a reasonable fee for Cohen’s work from beginning to end.  See, e.g.,
United States v. True, 250 F.3d 410, 420-21 (6th Cir. 2001) (permitting supplementation of a Hyde
Amendment fee application and adopting the reasoning of Singleton v. Apfel, 231 F.3d 853, 858 (11th Cir.
2000) (“[A]bsent prejudice to the government or noncompliance with court orders for timely
supplementation of the pleading requirements, courts may permit supplementation of timely EAJA fee
applications.”)).

19 Although recognizing the Aisenbergs’ entitlement to some reasonable fee for litigation of the
Hyde Amendment issue, the United States advances several objections to the attorney’s fee incurred by
the Aisenbergs after the United States conceded application of the Hyde Amendment on July 2, 2001. 
See “Government’s Objections to Defense Counsels’ Submission of their Final Bill in. . . . ”  (Doc. 482)
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entitlement to recover a reasonable attorney’s fee generated during litigation of the

Hyde Amendment dispute.  See, e.g., United States v. Whitesell, 1999 WL 1073823,

203 F.3d 833 (9th Cir. 1999) (table), (directing reimbursement of an attorney’s fee

incurred during the appeal of a Hyde Amendment claim); 1 Robert L. Rossi, Attorneys’

Fees § 10:4 (3d ed. 2001) (“Under most federal fee-shifting statutes a prevailing party

may be compensated for the attorneys’ fees incurred in litigating his or her entitlement

to an award of fees.”).19 

The aggregate hours (i.e., 11,251.70) expended by the Cohen firm on the

Aisenbergs’ behalf are neither meager nor excessive.  The asserted hourly total equals

approximately 2,250 hours per year during the five-year representation.  In the

prevailing legal market, reputable private law firms routinely require an attorney to bill

2,000 or more hours per year.  Thus, the Cohen firm devoted resources slightly in

excess of one attorney working full-time for the five-year span of this case, surely a



20 Several aspects of this case justify the Cohen firm’s commitment of enormous and highly
unusual resources.  For example, and perhaps most prominently, analysis of the audio recordings entailed
expenditure of at least 2,000 hours by the Cohen firm’s attorneys and audio expert.  At first blush, the
extraordinary efforts directed toward merely listening to recordings perhaps raise suspicion.  However,
both the poor quality of the relatively numerous recordings and the recordings’ position as the central and
apparently motivating evidentiary force behind the prosecution justifies the intensity of the Cohen firm’s
audio analysis.  Residual doubt about the Cohen firm’s time directed to that analysis is erased (perhaps
ironically) by a consideration of the efforts of Anthony Pellicano, the United States’ audio “expert.”  At the
Franks hearing, Pellicano recounted his exertions to analyze the recordings.  Pellicano testified that he
listened to “each version” of each recording “at least 100 times.”  Tr. of Hr’g, Dec. 18, 2000, (Doc. 332) at
184.  Within particular recordings, Pellicano listened to “selected phrases . . . several hundred times.”  Tr.
of Hr’g, Doc. 18, 2000, (Doc. 332) at 185.  Indeed, as the magistrate judge noted in the report and
recommendation, in an attempt to understand the contents of but one disputed excerpt Pellicano purports
to have listened to a single portion of a single recording at least five hundred times.  Tr. of Hr’g, Dec. 18,
2000, (Doc. 332) at 141, 184.  This exertion, which only for purposes of this footnote I assume Pellicano
describes accurately, establishes the extraordinary commitment of time expended by the United States
with respect to the recordings.  Of course, simple fairness dictates that the defense suffer no penalty for
similar undertakings.

My own experience in this case and my understanding of the magistrate judge’s time commitment
confirm the challenge presented by the recordings.  My repeated surveys of the recordings (and the
revisions of the accompanying transcripts) required an expenditure equal to several weeks of essentially
full-time work.  The magistrate judge’s work concerning Franks issues, which focused on the contents of
the recordings, required an even more unusual commitment of time equal to three to four months of work.  
              

21 Of course, the United States initially sought to defeat the Aisenbergs’ decision to proceed with
common counsel (although undoubtedly not because of Hyde Amendment considerations).  Interestingly,
with the exception of the affidavit of Rochelle A. Reback, submitted by the Aisenbergs in support of the fee
request, the record is silent with respect to the magnitude of the prospective efficiencies effected by the
Cohen firm’s representation of both Steven and Marlene Aisenberg.  Conceivably, the fees of separate
counsel could have nearly doubled the present cost to the United States.
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reasonable (indeed, fairly efficient) allocation of man-power given the case’s duration,

complexity, and intensity.20

Viewed in detail (through the itemized daily time entries of the Cohen firm’s

attorneys and investigator) the recorded hours conform approximately to a seasoned

observer’s expectation concerning the efforts required by accomplished counsel to

defend multiple clients in a complex, highly publicized criminal investigation and

prosecution that is vigorously contested at every turn.21  The billing records track the

ebb and flow of the litigation.  Shortly before and during events of obvious importance



22 The United States objects to the adequacy of the itemized descriptions of time expended by the
Cohen firm after the United States conceded the application of the Hyde Amendment (i.e., July 2, 2001). 
Upon review, no material discrepancy appears between the pre-concession itemized descriptions (to
which the United States advances no objection) and the post-concession descriptions.  On the whole, the
descriptions supplied by the Cohen firm’s attorneys and investigator are minimally adequate.  The United
States also asserts that the number of hours expended by the Cohen firm after July, 2, 2001, evidences
“churning” (i.e., inflated billing in recognition of the prospective fee award) and excessive staffing.  No
evidence of “churning” or overstaffing appears.  The Cohen firm litigated aggressively both before and
after the United States conceded the Hyde Amendment.  The Cohen firm’s impeccable presentation at the
Hyde Amendment hearing vindicates the hours expended by several participants in preparation for that
occasion.  See Norman v. Hous. Auth. of City of Montgomery, 836 F.2d 1292, 1302 (11th Cir. 1988)
(“There is nothing inherently unreasonable about a client having multiple attorneys, and they may all be
compensated if they are not unreasonably doing the same work and are being compensated for the
distinct contribution of each lawyer.”).  Indeed, both sides offered vigorous and impressive arguments at
the Hyde Amendment hearing.  Each side, led by seasoned counsel (Ernest F. Peluso [who represented
the United States only in Hyde Amendment matters and not in the investigation, indictment, or
prosecution] for the United States and Todd Foster and Barry A. Cohen for the Aisenbergs) and supported
by an array of skilled and active professionals, demonstrated an elevated level of skill and
professionalism.  
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(e.g., the grand jury appearances, the release of the indictment, the Aisenbergs’ arrest,

the Franks hearing, the “audibility” dispute, the Hyde Amendment hearing, filing

deadlines, and the like), the Cohen firm’s attorneys and investigator worked intently

(indeed, apparently to the exclusion of any other matter on several occasions) in a

coordinated exertion equal to the moment.  Not unexpectedly, these episodes result in

an ample but reasonable accumulation of billable hours.  During less active moments in

the life of the case, the Cohen firm devoted reduced (but apparently appropriate)

resources to the Aisenbergs’ defense, resulting in proportionately reduced hours.  My

observation of defense counsel, the quality and quantity of papers filed by the defense,

and the complexities of this case support the conclusion that the Cohen firm’s billing

records (with the exceptions noted below) adequately document the “number of hours

reasonably expended on the litigation.”  Hensley, 461 U.S. at 433.22  Accordingly, I

conclude that, with the exceptions discussed below, the Aisenbergs are entitled to a
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reasonable attorney’s fee based on the Application (Doc. 367), as supplemented, and

supporting exhibits.

Although generally acceptable, certain itemized time entries claim unexplained 

hours or insufficiently describe the hours claimed.  Accordingly, the following hours shall

be reduced or excluded:

Barry A. Cohen:  The single itemized time entry for January 28, 1998, to

February 1, 1998, for 32 hours, is described as “Oprah Winfrey Show.”  The description

fails to explain the rather large number of hours expended for the apparent appearance

on a television program.  The single itemized time entry for September 13, 1998, to

September 27, 1998, for 150 hours, is described as “meeting w/Aisenbergs on case,”

which description is insufficient for the number of hours claimed.  The single itemized

time entry for September 27, 1998, to September 29, 1998, for 30 hours, is described

as “meeting w/Aisenbergs on case,” which description is insufficient for the number of

hours claimed.  These claimed hours (totaling 212) will be cut by 50%.  Accordingly,

Cohen’s total hours are reduced by 106. 

Michael A. Gold:  The itemized time entries for November 26, 1998, to December

23, 1998, are virtually  identical (both in hours claimed and description of task) to

itemized time entries for November 26, 1997, to December 23, 1997.  I presume this

duplication results from an irregularity in the Cohen firm’s accounting system.  The

hours billed for November 26, 1998, to December 23, 1998 are excluded.  Accordingly,

Gold’s total hours are reduced by 38.75. 



23 In its initial objection concerning media time, the United States also objected to time spent on
“entertainment” matters.  See “Government’s Response to Defendants’ Application . . . ” at 12.  (Doc. 378) 
The United States neither defines the “entertainment” matters to which it objects nor, apparently, persists
with this objection.  In any event, none of the Cohen firm’s work concerned “entertainment.”
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Kevin Kalwary:  The itemized time entries for February 12, 2001, to February 15,

2001, each appears once with a description and once without any description.  I

presume this duplication results from an irregularity in the Cohen firm’s accounting

system.  The hours billed for February 12, 2001, to February 15, 2001, are excluded. 

Accordingly, Kalwary’s hours are reduced by 10.5. 

Stephen Romine:  The itemized single time entry for January 1, 2001, to March

23, 2001, appears without any description.  I presume this omission results from an

irregularity in the Cohen firm’s accounting system.  The hours billed for January 1,

2001, to March 23, 2001, without a description are excluded.  Accordingly, Romine’s

hours are reduced by 5.0.  

The United States objects to time spent on “media” matters by the Aisenbergs’

attorneys and investigator.23  Justice Kennedy’s observations announced in Gentile v.

State Bar of Nevada, 501 U.S. 1030, 1034, 111 S. Ct. 2720, 2728-29 (1991), a case

reviewing a state bar’s disciplinary action against a criminal defense attorney stemming

from the attorney’s extrajudicial statements at a press conference, are instructive:

An attorney’s duties do not begin inside the courtroom door.  He or she
cannot ignore the practical implications of a legal proceeding for the client. 
Just as an attorney may recommend a plea bargain or civil settlement to
avoid the adverse consequences of a possible loss after trial, so too an
attorney may take reasonable steps to defend a client’s reputation and
reduce the adverse consequences of indictment, especially in the face of
a prosecution deemed unjust or commenced with improper motives.  A
defense attorney may pursue lawful strategies to obtain dismissal of an
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indictment or reduction of charges, including an attempt to demonstrate in
the court of public opinion that the client does not deserve to be tried.

Of course, an attorney’s time may be compensable to the extent that the effort is

“necessary to the attainment of adequate relief for [the] client,” even when that work is

neither “judicial” courtroom time nor otherwise “traditional” legal work.  Pennsylvania v.

Delaware Valley Citizens’ Council for Clean Air, 478 U.S. 546, 558, 106 S. Ct. 3088,

3094 (1986).  Accordingly, particularly in cases that generate unusual publicity, press

appearances and other efforts directed to public relations (i.e., “media time”) that

contribute directly and substantially to the litigation may be reimbursed.  See, e.g.,

Gaolbreak v. City of Westminster, 177 F.3d 839, 877 (9th Cir. 1999); Davis v. City and

County of San Francisco, 976 F.2d 1536, 1545 (9th Cir. 1992), vacated in part on other

grounds, 984 F.2d 345 (9th Cir. 1993); Bullfrog Films, Inc. v. Canto, 815 F. Supp. 338,

343-44 (C.D. Cal. 1993); but see United States v. Knotted, 106 F. Supp. 2d 174, 181

(D. Mass. 2000) (disallowing without explanation reimbursement for “public relations

services” in a Hyde Amendment case), rev’d on other grounds, 256 F.3d 20 (1st Cir.

2001). 

The Aisenbergs maintain, with considerable force, that the “media time”

expended by the Cohen firm (specifically by attorneys Cohen and Foster and

investigator Kalwary) was not only central to the defense’s legal strategy but also

necessitated by the publicity (entirely derogatory) that attached to the Aisenbergs as a

result of the actions and pronouncements of governmental agencies associated with the

investigation and prosecution.  With respect to legal strategy, the defense sought to

locate the missing child in order to vindicate the Aisenbergs.  As Foster candidly noted
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at the Hyde Amendment hearing, “If we could find the baby, this case goes away.”  With

respect to countering the negative media portrayal of the Aisenbergs, even a cursory

familiarity with the public aspects of this case explains the rationale behind Cohen firm’s

“attempt to demonstrate in the court of public opinion that the client does not deserve to

be tried.”  Gentile, 501 U.S. at 1043.  The record comfortably supports both

justifications for the Cohen firm’s expenditure of reasonable “media time.”   

As with all the defense’s efforts in this case, the Cohen firm undertook the media

work with gusto, orchestrating a campaign of national scope using visual, audio, print,

and electronic media outlets.  The reasonableness of this effort depends on the point in

the life of the case at which the Cohen firm expended “media time.”  In this respect, the

case may usefully be viewed in three segments:  first, the “pre-indictment stage” dating

from Sabrina’s disappearance until the return of the indictment (i.e., November 24,

1997, to September 9, 1999); second, the “prosecution stage” dating from the return of

the indictment to the indictment’s dismissal (i.e., September 9, 1999, to February 22,

2001); and third, the “Hyde Amendment stage” dating from dismissal of the indictment

to the conclusion of the Hyde Amendment hearing (i.e., February 22, 2001, to

October 25, 2002). 

During the pre-indictment stage, the media campaign centered on protecting and

rehabilitating the Aisenbergs’ reputation in the face of relentless and injurious press

coverage.  At the Hyde Amendment hearing, the defense skillfully evoked the tone and

substance of the media “feeding frenzy” that surrounded Sabrina’s disappearance and

the subsequent investigation.  Under those circumstances, defense counsel retains the



24 Of course, the dismissal was “without prejudice,” and the United States maintains that the
investigation of Sabrina’s disappearance continues.  Steven and Marlene Aisenberg remain within the
foreseeable scope of any further investigation.  
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option, consistent with the rules governing professional conduct, not only to procure the

assistance of the public in locating the child but to present a public response, to nurture

the clients’ diminished public image, and thereby to reduce public pressure on the

prosecution to indict. 

During the prosecution stage, the urgency of finding Sabrina for strategic

reasons grew.  Although the pending charges technically concerned the Aisenbergs’

conduct during the investigation, the heart of the case remained the missing child. 

Concurrently, the protection and rehabilitation of the Aisenbergs’ reputation remained

imperative, particularly in the face of the indictment’s inflammatory content.  Perhaps

not surprisingly, the announcement of federal charges against the Aisenbergs received

national media attention that featured the repetitive broadcast and other republication of

the putative quotations attributed to the Aisenbergs in the ill-fated indictment.

During the Hyde Amendment stage, the justification for the Cohen firm’s media

time is less persuasive.  Viewed from the narrow legal (rather than the human)

perspective, the dismissal of the charges against Steven and Marlene Aisenberg

alleviated the criminal defense need to locate Sabrina.24  The dismissal of the charges

also changed the tone and direction of the media coverage.  During the Hyde

Amendment stage, media attention focused less on Steven and Marlene Aisenberg and

more on the investigation and prosecution conducted by the United States and the

supporting agencies.  The Cohen firm incurred proportionately less need to publicly



25 Segregating “media time” is a somewhat imprecise exercise, particularly given the diverse
activities undertaken by Cohen firm personnel on any given day.  I have carefully reviewed the itemized
daily time entries in an attempt to extract the pertinent “media time” subject to the reduction.  Entries
describing activity exclusively directed to media matters are counted fully; entries describing activities
implicating both media and non-media matters are counted at 50%.  This media time hourly total is then
subjected to a 75% reduction. 
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protect and rehabilitate the Aisenbergs’ reputations.  Although dismissal of the charges

reduced the importance of expending “media time,” the “Defendants’ Response to

Government’s Objections . . . ” (Doc. 483) points to the value added directly to the

litigation by “media time” during the Hyde Amendment stage, including, for example,

Kalwary’s work on the public records lawsuit seeking documents generated by special

prosecutor Norman Wolfinger (who was appointed by Governor Bush to review the

investigation of the Aisenbergs), which work led to information presented by the

Aisenbergs at the Hyde Amendment hearing.  

In sum, the Cohen firm’s expenditure of “media time” during the pre-indictment

and prosecution stages finds considerable justification and will be reimbursed. 

However, the Cohen firm’s expenditure of “media time” during the Hyde Amendment

stage will be cut by 75% in order to account for the reduced concerns about the legal

strategy of finding Sabina Aisenberg and protecting Steven and Marlene Aisenbergs’

reputations while also providing credit to the Aisenbergs for the Cohen firm’s legitimate

activities implicating media concerns.25  Accordingly, hours expended by Cohen during

the Hyde Amendment stage are reduced by 40; hours expended by Foster during the

Hyde Amendment stage are reduced by 25.5; and hours expended by Kalwary during

the Hyde Amendment stage are reduced by 84.



26 Of course, as noted above, approximately 391 hours billed by the Cohen firm between
March 26, 2001, and December 31, 2001, are also excluded.
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The reduction in hours discussed above results in the following adjusted

cumulative hours reasonably expended by Cohen firm personnel for purposes of

calculating the applicable lodestar:

1997-2002 ADJUSTED CUMULATIVE TOTAL HOURS

ATTORNEY CLAIMED HOURS REDUCTION ADJUSTED TOTAL

Cohen, Barry A. 1,279.75 146.00 1,133.75

Cohen, Harry 1,757.75 0 1,757.75

Kalwary, Kevin 2,845.05 94.50 2,750.55

Gold, Michael 2,506.25 38.75 2,467.50

Wright, Mark 62.00 0 62.00

Cullen, Patricia 35.50 0 35.50

Bunz, Rick 318.10 0 318.10

Romine, Stephen 357.00 5.00 352.00

Foster, Todd 1,734.00 25.50 1,708.50

Sheehan, Tracy 162.90 0 162.90

Darken, Kevin 193.40 0 193.40

 TOTAL 11,251.70 309.7526 10,941.95

A “reasonable hourly rate” under the lodestar method means “the prevailing

market rate in the relevant community.”  Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 895, 104 S. Ct.

1541, 1547 (1984).  Although this determination is “inherently difficult” because of,

among other things, the vagaries of determining market prices, the essential inquiry is

whether “the requested rates are in line with those prevailing in the community for

similar services by lawyers of reasonably comparable skill, experience and reputation.” 

Blum, 465 U.S. at 896 n.11; see also Davis v. Locke, 936 F.2d 1208, 1215 (11th Cir.



27 The February 9, 1998, engagement agreement between the Aisenbergs and the Cohen firm,
which agreement was drafted but apparently never signed, set the Cohen firm’s hourly rates between
$150 (for junior attorneys) and $350 (for Barry Cohen).  Interestingly, the engagement agreement set
Kevin Kalwary’s hourly rate at $200, twice that sought by the Aisenbergs.  (Of course, the February 9,
1998, engagement agreement, to the extent that the unsigned document ever possessed legal force, is
superceded by an October 5, 1999, engagement agreement, which establishes a set fee of $2 million for
the Cohen firm’s representation of Steven and Marlene Aisenberg.)  Accordingly, the February 9, 1998,
engagement agreement provides little assistance in evaluating the reasonableness of the asserted hourly
rates.  The document includes hourly rates that are both below and above those sought by the Aisenbergs
(e.g., Cohen’s fee is set at $50 less than the current request; Kalwary’s fee is set at $100 more than
current request).  In any event, the February 9, 1998, engagement agreement is not dispositive.  See
Blanchard v. Bergeron, 489 U.S. at 93 (“[A reasonable attorney’s fee] . . . contemplates reasonable
compensation, in light of all of the circumstances, for the time and effort expended by the attorney for the
prevailing plaintiff, no more and no less.  Should a fee agreement provide less than a reasonable fee
calculated in this manner, the [non-prevailing party] should nevertheless be required to pay the higher
amount.”).   
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1991); Norman v. Hous. Auth. of City of Montgomery, 836 F.2d 1292, 1300 (11th Cir.

1988) (“To say that the prevailing market rate is the figure at either extreme or at a

precise point between the extremes is a divination that cannot be made with the same

certainty as ascertaining the value of a futures contract for pork bellies or wheat on a

given day.”).  “[T]he reasonable hourly rate should be determined based on the

reasonable worth of services rendered, so long as the rate results in no windfall for the

prevailing party.”  Tire Kingdom, Inc. v. Morgan Tire & Auto, Inc., 253 F.3d 1332, 1337

(11th Cir. 2001).

The Aisenbergs seek reimbursement for attorney and investigator time billed at

hourly rates ranging from $100 to $400.27  The Aisenbergs submit uncontradicted

affidavits from Daniel L. Castillo, John M. Fitzgibbons, Edward T.M. Garland, Albert J.

Krieger, Rochelle A. Reback, and Gary R. Trombley, each a criminal defense attorney

familiar with both this case and the prevailing rates charged by criminal defense

attorneys of varying experience and reputation in the Middle District of Florida.  The

affidavits unambiguously support the Cohen firm’s rate structure for attorneys.  Although



28 Fitzgibbons advocates a reasonable hourly fee of $80 for Kalwary’s services.  Trombley
advocates an hourly rate of $85.  The four other affiants advocate an hourly rate of $100.   

29 The Cohen firm’s rate structure results in an average hourly rate of $221.26.  Based on the total
fee requested divided by the total hours billed, the average value for each hour is $271.94.  
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not uniform with respect to a reasonable hourly rate for the Cohen firm’s investigator,

the affidavits adequately support the hourly rate of $100 for Kalwary.28

A recent national survey of the nation’s 250 largest law firms reveals comparative

rate information about two prominent Tampa-based law firms:  Carlton Fields, which

reports hourly rates between $130 and $400; and Fowler White Boggs Banker, which

reports hourly rates between $125 and $350.  See A Firm-by-Firm Sampling of Billing

Rates Nationwide, National Law Review, Dec. 9, 2002, at B12.29  Because the United

States maintains that the pertinent hourly rate may not exceed $125 an hour, the United

States offers neither affidavits respecting a reasonable hourly rate nor particular

objections to the rates asserted by the Cohen firm.

Norman identifies as centrally important to determining a reasonable rate the

“legal skill” possessed and deployed by counsel, and among the pertinent

considerations lists experience, judgment, tactical expertise, organization and

efficiency, knowledge of trial practice and substantive law, and persuasiveness.  835

F.2d at 1300-01.  In this instance, the Cohen firm mounted an exemplary defense, both

meticulous and tenacious.  In short, the Cohen firm ranks at or near the top among

reputable private criminal defense counsel practicing within the Middle District of Florida

(or elsewhere).  Undoubtedly, the Cohen firm commands premium retail rates in the

pertinent market.  In this case, the Cohen firm afforded the Aisenbergs a concomitant
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premium service, executed throughout with expertise and unrelenting zeal. 

Accordingly, I conclude that the Cohen firm’s rate structure, stated in the Application

(Doc. 367), as supplemented, establishes a reasonable basis to compute the loadstar

fee.  

Applying the adjusted hours to the pertinent reasonable hourly rates results in

the following:

1997-2002 CUMULATIVE ADJUSTED TOTALS

ATTORNEY ADJUSTED HOURS HOURLY RATE DOLLAR AMOUNT

Cohen, Barry A. 1,133.75 400 453,500.00

Cohen, Harry 1,757.75 150 263,662.50

Kalwary, Kevin 2,750.55 100 275,055.00

Gold, Michael 2,467.50 239.4963 590,957.12

Wright, Mark 62.00 175 10,850.00

Cullen, Patricia 35.50 200 7,100.00

Bunz, Rick 318.10 173.3417 55,140.00

Romine, Stephen 352.00 250 88,000.00

Foster, Todd 1,708.50 296.028 505,763.83

Sheehan, Tracy 162.90 200 32,580.00

Darken, Kevin 193.40 250 48,350.00

 TOTAL 10,941.95 2,330,958.45

Accordingly, the “lodestar” methodology results in a total attorney’s fee of

$2,330,958.45. 



30 Johnson enumerates the following familiar guidelines:  the time and labor required; the novelty
and difficulty of the questions; the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly;  the preclusion of
other employment by the attorney due to acceptance of the case; the customary fee; whether the fee is
fixed or contingent; time limitations imposed by the client or the circumstances; the amount involved and
the results obtained; the experience, reputation, and ability of the attorneys; the “undesirability” of the
case; the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client; and awards in similar cases. 
488 F.2d at 717-19.
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III.

Upon determining an appropriate lodestar, “[t]he district court may then adjust

the resulting ‘lodestar’ depending upon a variety of factors, the most important of which

is the degree of the plaintiff’s success in the lawsuit.”  Andrews v. United States, 122

F.3d 1367, 1375 (11th Cir. 1997) (citing Hensley, which emphasizes “results obtained”). 

Indeed, Hensley allows for consideration of the additional factors identified in Johnson

v. Georgia Highway Express, Inc., 488 F.2d 714 (5th Cir. 1974).30  Hensley, 461 U.S. at

434 n.9.  However, Hensley cautions that “many of [the Johnson] factors usually are

subsumed within the initial calculation of hours reasonably expended at a reasonable

hourly rate.”  461 U.S. at 434 n.9 (citing Copeland v. Marshall, 641 F.2d 880, 890 (D.C.

Cir. 1980).  In subsequent cases, the Supreme Court circumscribes the application of

some Johnson factors and reiterates the need for considered caution before imposing

fee multipliers generally.  See Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 898-901, 104 S. Ct.

1541, 1549-1550 (1984) (eliminating except in “rare” and “exceptional” cases

modifications based on “complexity [and] novelty of the issues,” “special skill and

experience of counsel,” “quality of representation,” “results obtained,” and “contingent

nature of the litigation”); Pennsylvania v. Delaware Valley Citizens’ Council for Clean

Air, 478 U.S. at 565-66 (eliminating consideration of the “superior quality” of counsel’s
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performance when the hourly rate is otherwise reasonable); Blanchard v. Bergeron, 489

U.S. at 92-94 (limiting the importance of “contingent-fee” agreements when setting a

reasonable attorney’s fee).  In short, Hensley and its progeny express a pronounced

skepticism toward the use of a multiplier (based on the Johnson factors) in a case in

which the allowed hours and pertinent hourly rates are reasonable.  See Delaware

Valley Citizens’ Council, 478 U.S. at 565 (“A strong presumption that the lodestar figure-

-the product of reasonable hours times a reasonable rate--represents a ‘reasonable’ fee

is wholly consistent with the rationale behind the usual fee-shifting statute . . . .”); 2

Mary Francis Derfner & Arthur D. Wolfe, Court Awarded Attorney Fees § 16.04 (1998)

(“Thus, the Court’s precedents with respect to the lodestar fee calculation show a

marked preference for a single step inquiry.  That is, the lodestar figure arrived at by

multiplying hours reasonably expended on the litigation by a reasonable hourly rate

should generally be presumed to be the proper fee.”).

The Aisenbergs seek an upward adjustment of the requested lodestar fee

through application of a multiplier based on the “results obtained” and the pertinent

Johnson factors.  The Aisenbergs’ papers advocate an upward adjustment without

specifying a multiplier.  However, at the October, 2002, hearing, the Aisenbergs sought

a 3.0 multiplier, which, if applied to the pertinent lodestar total, would result in attorney’s

fees of $6,992,875.35. 

Although this case is both “rare” and “exceptional,” I conclude that the

circumstances compel no multiplier based on either the “results obtained” or the other

Johnson factors.  In fact, several of the Johnson factors, including those circumscribed



31 Courts implement assorted methods for calculating delay enhancements in a variety of litigation
contexts.  See, e.g., Davis v. Locke, 936 F.2d 1208, 1215 (11th Cir. 1991) (affirming the district court’s
application of a multiplier of 1.6 based on risk, difficulty in obtaining legal counsel, and delay in a civil
rights action); Formby v. Farmers and Merchants Bank, 904 F.2d 627, 633-34) (11th Cir. 1990) (affirming
the district court’s application of a delay multiplier of 1.33 in an employment action); Tufaro v. Willie, 756 F.
Supp. 556, 563 (S.D. Fla. 1991) (applying a delay multiplier of 1.1 to a $75,000 lodestar in a civil rights
action); Morgan v. Gittens, 915 F. Supp. 457, 473 (D. Mass. 1996) (implementing a 15% upward
adjustment of an attorney's fee award in a school desegregation action to account for a two and one half
year delay in payment); Cerva v. EBR Enterprises, 740 F. Supp. 1099, 1106-09 (E.D. Pa. 1990) (using the
prime rate published in the first edition of the Wall Street Journal for each of the five years in which the
action was pending to compute an enhancement of $3,664 to a $20,875 fee award, resulting in a delay
multiplier of approximately 1.18); Proffitt v. Mun. Auth. of Borough of Morrisville, 716 F. Supp. 845, 854
(E.D. Pa. 1989) (applying a delay enhancement of $12,900 to a fee award of 172,984—a computation
based on half of the average prime rate for each calendar year of the litigation—in a Clean Water Act suit);
Amico v. New Castle County, 654 F. Supp. 982, 1008 (D. Del. 1987) (applying a delay multiplier of 1.135
in a civil rights action); Shakman v. Democratic Org. of Cook County, 677 F. Supp. 933, 942 (N.D. Ill.
1987) (applying a delay multiplier of 1.059 in a voting rights action); Williams v. Marriott Corp., 669 F.
Supp. 2, 6 (D.D.C. 1987) (implementing a 15% upward adjustment for delay in payment of attorney's fees
in an employment action); Weiss v. New York Hospital, 628 F. Supp. 1392,1414-15 (M.D. Pa. 1986)

(continued...)
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by Supreme Court precedent, retain forceful pertinence to this case.  However, both the

Cohen firm’s premium retail hourly rates and the number of hours allowed satisfy the

considerations for which the Johnson factors account and limit the persuasiveness of

the argument favoring a multiplier.  

Irrespective of an enhancement based on the Johnson factors, a reasonable

lodestar fee may be enhanced based on a delay in the receipt of payment.  See

Missouri v. Jenkins, 491 U.S. 274, 282, 109 S. Ct. 2463, 2468 (1989) ("In setting fees

for prevailing counsel, the courts have regularly recognized the delay factor, either by

basing the award on current rates or by adjusting the fee based on historical rates to

reflect its present value."); see also Norman, 836 F.2d at 1302 ("In this circuit, where

there is a delay the court should take into account the time value of money and the

effects of inflation and generally award compensation at current rates rather than at

historic rates.").31  The circumstances of the present action, which has persisted for over



31(...continued)
(enhancing a lodestar of $1,372,892 by $530,000—a computation based on the average quarterly prime
rates during the six year pendency of the litigation—to account for a delay of payment in a class action
antitrust suit, equivalent to a delay multiplier of approximately 1.4); In re Cincinnati Gas & Elec. Co. Sec.
Litig., 643 F. Supp. 148 (N.D. Ohio 1986) (awarding a multiplier of 2.48 in a complex securities action
based on contingency, delay, and early settlement); Malchman v. Davis, 588 F. Supp. 1047, 1060
(S.D.N.Y. 1984) (applying a multiplier of 1.685 in a class action antitrust suit based on delay, complexity,
and importance); Institutionalized Juveniles v. Secretary of Public Welfare, 568 F. Supp. 1020, 1033 (E.D.
Pa. 1983) (awarding a delay multiplier of 1.25 to compensate in a civil rights action); Handguards, Inc. v.
Ethicon, Inc., 552 F. Supp. 820, 822-24 (N.D. Cal. 1982) (adjusting the fee award to account for a delay in
payment by increasing the average hourly rate from the historic rate of $85 to the “current” rate of $115,
resulting in a delay multiplier of approximately 1.35); In re Baldwin-United Corp., 79 B.R. 321, 346-350
(Bankr. S.D. Ohio 1987) (awarding $810,844 to six law firms to compensate for a three-year holdback of
approximately $5,615,000 in fees, equivalent to a delay multiplier of approximately 1.15).

32 The Court construes the Aisenbergs’ application for “costs” as a request for “other litigation
expenses,” which the Hyde Amendment permits in addition to a reasonable attorney’s fee. 

33 The expense items include expert witnesses and consultants; hearing transcripts; travel, meal,
(continued...)
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five years, justify the application of a multiplier of 1.15 to the lodestar of $2,330,958.45

to compensate the Aisenbergs’ for the delay in reimbursement.  Accordingly, the

attorney’s fee award is enhanced by $349,643.77, resulting in a total attorney’s fee of

$2,680,602.22.   

IV.

In addition to an attorney’s fee, the Aisenbergs seek reimbursement of “costs”

totaling $195,670.32.  (Doc. 447)32  The United States advances no specific objections

to the Aisenbergs’ litigation expenses, including the expenses incurred during litigation

of the Hyde Amendment dispute.  Although somewhat cursorily documented, the

Aisenbergs’ litigation expenses fit within the relatively broad class of reimbursable

expenses for items normally billed to clients and necessary to conduct this sort of

complex litigation effectively.  See Jean v. Nelson, 863 F.2d 759, 776-78 (11th Cir.

1988).33  The amount of litigation expenses is reasonable.  Accordingly, the United



33(...continued)
and hotel; litigation support services; electronic legal research; mediation; postage and telephone; and
document, photograph, videotape, and audiotape retrieval and duplication.
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States shall reimburse the Aisenbergs for litigation expenses in the amount of

$195,670.32.

Pursuant to the Hyde Amendment, the Aisenbergs are entitled to a reasonable

attorney’s fee in the amount of $2,680,602.22 and other litigation expenses in the

amount of $195,670.32.  

THE GRAND JURY

At least twice the Aisenbergs have sought release of the grand jury proceedings

that resulted in their indictment.  On February 17, 2000, the Aisenbergs filed a “Motion

for Production of Grand Jury Minutes and for Hearing to Determine Whether to Dismiss

Indictment for Investigative and Prosecutorial Misconduct.”  (Doc. 95)  This motion

contains among other matters an account by the Aisenbergs of (1) their receipt of a

subpoena on January 30, 1998, requiring their appearance before the grand jury on

February 4, 1998; (2) the unscheduled visit, apparently coordinated by law

enforcement, to the Aisenbergs’ home on the eve of the Aisenbergs’ grand jury

appearance by representatives of the Florida Department of Children and Family to

question the fitness of the Aisenbergs to retain custody of their son, William, and other

daughter, Monica; (3) the Aisenbergs’ appearance before the grand jury on

February 11, 2000, after the United States represented to United States District Judge

Henry Adams that the Aisenbergs were “subjects” but not “targets” of the grand jury’s

investigation; (4) the Aisenbergs’ view of some of the accusations mounted against
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them by the United States, including suggestions of child abuse, child neglect,

molestation, and a failed polygraph; (5) an alleged pattern of leaks by the United States

in an effort to defame the Aisenbergs; and (6) a section entitled “An Unpleasant But

Necessary Analysis” that reviews certain episodes in the investigative and prosecutorial

history of participants in this case.  The motion raises questions about the United

States’ conduct in the grand jury and seeks the records of the grand jury in support of

the Aisenbergs’ accusations of prosecutorial misconduct.  

Again, on July 29, 2002, the Aisenbergs sought records of the grand jury in

“Defendants’ Motion for Production of Grand Jury Minutes, Internal Files of the United

States Attorneys Office, and Other Materials to Support Claim for Attorney’s Fees and

Costs Under Public Law 105-119 (Hyde Amendment).”  (Doc. 432)  The United States

responded to the Aisenbergs’ motion and was dismissive of the Aisenbergs’ assertions

about grand jury and other misconduct.  (Doc. 440)  The Court deferred any ruling on

the motions because Hyde Amendment liability was conceded by the United States and

any discovery otherwise available (and, perhaps, none is available except as specified

in the Hyde Amendment) appeared most likely unnecessary.

With the entry of this order, the attorney’s fee issue closes in the district court. 

However, the Aisenbergs persist in their interest in the grand jury proceedings that

resulted in their indictment.  I shared that interest throughout the proceedings and

accordingly required the United States to file the grand jury transcripts under seal many

months ago.  I now consider unsealing the transcripts.
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In Douglas Oil Company of California v. Petrol Stops Northwest, 441 U.S. 211,

99 S. Ct. 1667 (1979), civil anti-trust litigants sought grand jury transcripts arising from a

criminal investigation in another district.  Justice Powell’s opinion for the majority

remains the principal pronouncement concerning the question (as framed by the court),

“[W]hat justification for disclosure must a private party show in order to overcome the

presumption of grand jury secrecy applicable to such transcripts?”  441 U.S. at 213. 

First, footnote 10 of Justice Powell’s opinion restates forcefully the considerations that

historically have justified grand jury secrecy:

In United States v. Procter & Gamble Co., 356 U.S. 677, 681-682 n.6, 78
S. Ct. 983, 986, n.6, 2 L. Ed .2d 1077 (1958), we said that the reasons for
grand jury secrecy had been summarized correctly in United States v.
Rose, 215 F.2d 617, 628-629 (CA3 1954):

“ ‘(1) To prevent the escape of those whose indictment may be
contemplated; (2) to insure the utmost freedom to the grand jury in its
deliberations, and to prevent persons subject to indictment or their friends
from importuning the grand jurors; (3) to prevent subornation of perjury or
tampering with the witnesses who may testify before [the] grand jury and
later appear at the trial of those indicted by it; (4) to encourage free and
untrammeled disclosures by persons who have information with respect to
the commission of crimes; (5) to protect [an] innocent accused who is
exonerated from disclosure of the fact that he has been under
investigation, and from the expense of standing trial where there was no
probability of guilt.’ ”

Justice Powell, although acknowledging the persistent vitality of these considerations,

cites Dennis v. United States, 384 U.S. 855, 872, 86 S. Ct. 1840, 1850 (1966), for the

premise that “ ‘none of the reasons traditionally advanced to justify nondisclosure of

grand jury minutes’ was significant” in the circumstances of Dennis.  Then Justice

Powell concludes:
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It is clear from Procter & Gamble and Dennis, that disclosure is
appropriate only in those cases where the need for it outweighs the public
interest in secrecy, and that the burden of demonstrating this balance
rests upon the private party seeking disclosure.  It is equally clear that as
the considerations justifying secrecy become less relevant, a party
asserting a need for grand jury transcripts will have a lesser burden in
showing justification.  [citations omitted]  In sum, as so often is the
situation in our jurisprudence, the court’s duty in a case of this kind is to
weigh carefully the competing interest in light of the relevant circum-
stances and the standards announced by this Court. . . .  Moreover, we
emphasize that a court called upon to determine whether grand jury
transcripts should be released necessarily is infused with substantial
discretion. See Pittsburgh Plate Glass Co. v. United States, supra, at 399,
79 S. Ct. 1237, at 1240, 3 L. Ed. 2d 1323.

441 U.S. at 223.

The Aisenbergs’ prosecution involves no suspect “whose indictment may be

contemplated.”  The Aisenbergs have already been indicted, they expected indictment,

and they did not, of course, flee.  The deliberations of the grand jury are complete

(more than two years ago) so no one will “importune” the grand jurors or interfere with

or impede their deliberations.  Because the grand jury is finished and no trial will occur,

no opportunity exists for “subornation of perjury” from any witness.  Because the grand

jury is complete, no opportunity exists to impair “free and untrammeled disclosures” by

witnesses who testify before the grand jury.  The protection of the “innocent accused

from disclosure of the fact that he has been under investigation” is no longer a

consideration pertinent to the Aisenbergs.  The press brimmed with speculation about

the Aisenbergs from almost the moment Sabrina vanished.  Any hope of protecting the

Aisenbergs from “disclosure” was destroyed by the United States’ issuance of a grand

jury subpoena to the Aisenbergs and the televised trip by them and their counsel to the

door of the grand jury (of course, the press “mysteriously” knew exactly when and
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where the Aisenbergs would appear for the grand jury and the television cameras

captured the Aisenbergs’ stricken faces for national broadcast).

The Aisenbergs have agreed unconditionally and consistently to the release of

the grand jury transcripts (and the surveillance recordings, as well).  The Aisenbergs

have believed (so far, correctly) that their best interest benefitted directly as public

disclosure increased.  Non-disclosure preserves no remaining interest of the

Aisenbergs.

As these proceedings now stand, neither the Aisenbergs nor anyone else is

either formally charged or formally acquitted in the matter of Sabrina’s disappearance, a

circumstance that perhaps will persist indefinitely.  Although the Aisenbergs’ indictment

is dismissed, the details that led to the indictment are unknown both to them and to the

public.  The Aisenbergs seek release of the transcripts of the grand jury proceedings. 

With only the most minimal and inconsequential countervailing considerations, the

Aisenbergs’ request is reasonable and fair.

Another factor is present here that never affected Justice Powell’s deliberations

in Douglas Oil.  The Hyde Amendment prescribes a remedy for a defendant if a

prosecution is “vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith.”  In other words, in some very

minuscule sliver of cases after enactment of the Hyde Amendment the judiciary will

cause, for example, the Department of Justice to pay public funds to reimburse

defendants victimized by a “vexatious, frivolous, or bad faith” prosecution.  The public

has a strong interest in the events leading to a vexatious, frivolous, or bad faith

indictment and prosecution for which the prevailing defendant is compensated from



34 Perhaps an award under the Hyde Amendment ought to tilt decisively the balance of
considerations under Rule 6(e) and Proctor & Gamble, 356 U.S. at 681 n.6, to the extent that public
disclosure of grand jury proceedings is the presumptive consequence absent some persuasive reason for
non-disclosure of all or part of the grand jury transcript.  
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public funds.  The public has an interest in inspecting these troubled prosecutions to

determine the source of the United States’ misdirection.  The United States should not

be entitled to shield the pertinent history behind the cloak of grand jury secrecy,

especially in a case in which the defendants seek disclosure, the evidence is already

largely public, the grand jury’s session ended months earlier, no trial will occur, and the

matter is essentially at a standstill.  The only contrary interest remaining is that of the

United States, which may want to avoid a full airing of the episode.  That interest,

unaccompanied by some other material consideration, is without meaningful weight. 

The insulation of misdirected or overzealous prosecutorial exertions from public scrutiny

forms no part of the justification for grand jury secrecy.  The public is entitled to know.

The transcripts will permit the evaluation of, among many other things, whether

the Aisenbergs were merely “subjects” of the grand jury when the United States issued

a subpoena for their appearance, whether the examination of the Aisenbergs before the

grand jury served a bona fide investigative purpose rather than another prosecutorial

purpose, whether the recordings from the Aisenbergs’ home were presented fairly,

whether the testimony established probable cause for the indictment, and whether the

proceedings otherwise were in accord with established law, Department of Justice

policy, and other pertinent guides.  Again, the public is entitled to know, especially in the

wake of an award under the Hyde Amendment.34



35 The United States’ sealed notice of filing (Doc. S-35) in response to the Court’s earlier order to
file the grand jury transcript states, “The attached transcripts represent all of the transcripts of grand jury
proceedings related to this case in the government’s possession.”  This order requires the United States to
file all transcripts of grand jury proceedings in this case, without respect to whether the transcript was
earlier “in the government’s possession.”  No redundant transcripts are required.
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CONCLUSION

The Aisenbergs’ Hyde Amendment application (Doc. 367) is GRANTED.  Steven

and Marlene Aisenberg are entitled to recover from the United States an attorney’s fee

in the amount of $2,680,602.22 and other litigation expenses in the amount of

$195,670.32.  Accordingly, the Clerk is directed to enter a judgment for $2,876,272.54

in favor of the Aisenbergs and against the United States.

The Aisenbergs’ motions seeking the release of the transcripts of the

proceedings of the grand jury (Docs. 95, 432) are GRANTED only to the extent that

(1) the United States is ordered to file on or before February 7, 2003, in the public file

any previously unfiled transcripts of grand jury proceedings or hearings involving the

Aisenbergs and (2) the Clerk is directed to UNSEAL the presently sealed transcripts of

the grand jury proceedings and all hearings pertaining to this case on February 10,

2003, not later than 5:00 p.m.35  

The Clerk is directed to terminate any remaining motions and close the file. 

ORDERED in Tampa, Florida, on                     January 31                      , 2003.

        Steven D. Merryday       
STEVEN D. MERRYDAY

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE


